


“We make things happen by delivering results”

EE EffectiveEf
We set goals and we achieve them without wasting time 
and resources. It requirres each and every one of us to be 
accountable to ourseives, our colleagues, our customers 
and our investors.
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Financial Highlight

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

2002 2001 2000

(restated)

Income Statement
Revenue

From telephone services 25,156,760 22,028,477 15,865,871

From sales of telephone sets and prepaid starter kits 5,841,622 7,280,091 4,920,767

From sales of retail goods 576,503 439,859 469,861

Other operating income 425,986 351,105 1,607,089

Other income 225,108 85,535 442,781

Total Operating Revenue 32,225,979 30,185,067 23,306,369

Operating Expenses

Cost of telephone services 13,560,131 11,066,597 7,364,324

Cost of sales of telephone sets and prepaid starter kits 5,260,992 6,748,216 4,282,319

Cost of sales of retail goods 518,276 336,564 379,906

Selling and administrative expenses 7,351,406 6,786,195 4,735,857

Total Operating Expenses 26,690,805 24,937,572 16,762,406

Interest income 407,788 485,186 505,945

Financial cost (2,870,773) (3,122,431) (3,269,715)

Foreign Exchange gain (loss) (32,901) 345,051 (2,697,603)

Earnings Before Income Tax 3,039,288 2,955,301 1,082,590

Corporate income tax (976,301) (1,133,589) (434,789)

Share of profit (loss) from investment in associated company 19,070 - -

Net Earnings 2,082,060 1,821,712 647,800

Earnings per share (Baht) 4.39 3.84 1.05

Balance Sheet
Total assets 84,123,169 82,321,524 65,042,352

Total long term borrowing 43,897,760 40,844,035 33,956,809

Total liabilities 57,420,557 57,709,099 42,800,020

Total equity 26,702,613 24,612,425 22,242,332

Weighted average number of shares (Share) 474,416,126 474,416,126 474,416,126

Financial Ratio
Net profit margin 6.46% 6.04% 2.78%

Return on equity 7.80% 7.40% 2.91%

Return on asset 2.48% 2.21% 1.05%

Book value per share (Baht) 56.29 51.88 46.88
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makes it easy”
Effective Accessible Sincere Yours

 These values underpin everything that we do.

“DTAC
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2002 was a year without precedent, unprecedented levels of market growth, an unprecedented number of
competitors in the market, unprecedented choices for the consumer and of course unprecedented challenges for
management. However, I am proud to report that DTAC played its part in changing the dynamics of the wireless
telecommunication business in Thailand for the better. By staying true to the principals that we adopted when we
successfully introduced the “DTAC” brand in 2001, we have continued to make it easier for people all across the
country to obtain and maintain quality services at fair prices.

As well as taking a leading role in driving the development of the market in 2002, we also set out to ensure that we
continued to maintain our fair share of the market while delivering a satisfactory financial performance. Despite the
at times conflicting interest of these objectives, I believe that this has largely been achieved. In the course of the
year, the total number of subscriptions in the market grew by 121% when compared to the end of 2001. Despite the
launch of service by two new competitors during the year, as at end 2002 DTAC’s customer base amounted to
5,454,562, accounting for a market share of approximately 31% compared to 34% at end 2001. Revenue from
wireless services grew by 14% to baht 25.16 billion and net profit of baht 2.08 billion is 14% higher than in 2001.

Although capital expenditure of around baht 14 billion was significantly lower than in 2001, network
infrastructure continued to be developed including the introduction of competitive coverage in a number of key
provincial markets, the deployment of nationwide GPRS capability and major information system
enhancements.

In May we discontinued the Company’s handset sales and distribution business by transferring it to United
Distribution Business Co., Ltd (“UD”). DTAC retains a 25% equity interest in UD, which is an independent and
professionally managed entity controlled by one of our principal shareholders, United Communications Plc. I believe
that this move has significantly added to our competitiveness in what is an increasingly specialized area in a
challenging operating environment.

In 2002 the Company’s financial position has been significantly improved by the implementation of a
proactive liability management plan. This plan, which involved refinancing or resetting the cost basis of parts of our
outstanding debt and rebalancing the mix of financial instruments used, resulted in the Company’s average cost of
debt being reduced to 5.83% and the average maturity extended to 3.3 years by the year end 2002.

The wireless telecommunication sector in Thailand remains vibrant and dynamic. I, therefore, have little doubt that
2003 will prove to be as challenging as this year, albeit for different reasons. I expect to see progress with
regulatory and structural reform, the emergence of data services and a fundamental shift to customer relationship
management that has already begun in 2002. In order to continue our success in dealing with these challenges,
your Board has decided to add to the depth of our management expertise by appointing Co-CEOs, my brother
Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul and Mr. Sigve Brekke. I am sure that you will provide them with the same support that
you have me in my role as CEO.

Our customers, like all our stakeholders, are part of our family. This year in developing our brand we have set out
to explain to our family the values that drive the promise “DTAC make it easy: Effective, Accessible, Sincere,
Yours.” These values underpin everything that we do. Not only do they dictate how we serve our customers but
equally apply to our approach to corporate governance and how we interact with you, our shareholders. Throughout
this report we have sought to explain what these values mean to us and how we apply them at DTAC.

Finally, I would like to take this oppor tunity to thank our management and staf f for their dedication
throughout the year and our shareholders for their continued support and confidence in our company.

Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul
Chairman of the Board

 Chairman
Message from the
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Markets & Operations

At the end
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Market Development

2002 saw unprecedented growth in the
number of customers and in subscrip-
tions used by them, in the market for
mobile communication in Thailand.

DTAC has been instrumental in promoting
this growth that goes back to the launch
of its mould breaking DTAC brand in early
2001. In 2002 DTAC again took the
initiative in promoting market-leading
strategies that are consistent with the
brand promise of “makes it easy”. These
included the removal IMEI locks from the network that greatly enhanced
customers’ ability to choose a network operator independent of hardware
considerations and a focus on providing service rather than subscriptions tied
to the acquisition of a phone. So much so, in May 2002 DTAC discontinued its
mobile phone and accessories sales and distribution business. This
business was transferred to United Distribution Business Company (“UD”), a
related company in which DTAC continues to hold a 25% equity interest. (For
more information see Note 34 in the 2002 Financial Statements).

Two new service providers entered the market in 2002. TA Orange launched
services in March and Thai Mobile (a joint venture between TOT Corporation and
the Communication Authority of Thailand) in November. This undoubtedly led to
a more competitive market but has also in part contributed to the growth in the
market as a whole. DTAC’s operating plans in 2002 were focused on
maintaining its fair share of the market growth that it had been instrumental in
promoting even in the face of greater competition for customers.

2002 saw a dramatic change in customer
preference towards prepaid services. At 31
December 2002, of all subscriptions in the
market, approximately 75% was for prepaid
service compared to 61% at end 2001.
Customers opting for prepaid ser vice
accounted for 77% of DTAC’s active
subscriptions at end 2002. These customers
included those new to the market and
existing customers who elected to change
to prepaid service because it better suits
their lifestyles.
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At 31 December 2002, DTAC had approximately 5.5 million customers

GSM1800 AMPS800 Total
Postpaid 1,127,495 122,731 1,250,226

Prepaid 4,116,117 88,219 4,204,336

Total 5,243,612 210,950 5,454,562

Branding

Since the “DTAC” brand launched in March 2001, it has become one of the most widely recognized
consumer brands in Thailand. In 2002 the brand awareness was reinforced by increasing consumers
understanding of the brand by presenting a clear explanation of the brand promise and the Company’s
values.

EASY = Effective, Accessible, Sincere, and Yours

To reinforce these principals and to compliment the existing product packages a new innovative package,
“Dflex”, was successfully introduced in 2002. This is the first package offered to the market by any
operator that allows for variable charges dependant on the level of usage.

(As of Dec 31, 2002)

Package Dprompt Dmax Dmedium Dflex* Dlite
Monthly fee No No No No 250

baht/month

Fixed No 1,200 baht 750 baht - Start with 400 No

fee/month baht bundling with

Free Depend on 600 minutes 250 minutes 100 - minutes No

minutes/month Package free call

Tariff rates 5 2 3 - Next 150 minutes 4

baht/minute baht/minute baht/minute cost 3 baht/minute baht/minute

nationwide nationwide nationwide nationwide

- Next minute

costs 2 baht/

minute

Charging method Per- second Per- second Per- second Per- second Per- second

billing billing billing billing billing

VAS monthly fee No No No No No

* Dflex was introduced in August 2002.
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Value Added Services (“VAS”)

As market growth began to slow towards end
2002, DTAC’s focus began to shift from
customer acquisition plans to revenue
generation initiatives. A key component of this
is VAS, which is made possible by an
increasingly sophisticated customer. By end
2002, data services (including SMS) were still
not widely used but were increasing with
greater market awareness. As an example,
during 2002 DTAC launched its Content Provider
Access (“CPA”) platform that allows third party
content providers to deliver products to DTAC

customers via SMS downloads across the DTAC network. This has resulted in a significant increase in
the awareness and usage of SMS. Such services are typically charges at premium rates and revenues
are shared between DTAC and the content providers. At 31 December 2002, DTAC had contracted with
63 service providers.

DTAC also offers a complete range of more sophisticated data services including its mobile internet
portal “Djuice”, a nationwide GPRS (General Packet Radio Service) capability, wireless LAN and VPN
services for the corporate market and MMS (Multimedia Message Service) will be launched in early
2003. While the use and therefore revenue from these services is not yet significant, they are likely to
perform a key role in the development of the market in coming years.

Customer Service

The DTAC brand is all about the customer, and as the focus of the Company’s operating plans moving to
revenue generation, customer retention through superior customer service becomes the driving goal.
Proactive Customer Relationship Management (“CRM”) is at the center of this. Information systems and
research are used to understand customer behavior, attitudes and wants in order to create lifestyle
enhancing products. Contact programs, such as the D4U loyalty program, and the Care-Plus program
for high usage customers are used to promote greater interaction and a stronger relationship with
customers. These programs are targeted at both postpaid and prepaid customers.

The corporate values; Effective, Accessible, Sincere and Yours; now form the foundation of DTAC
service at all points of contact with customer. Service centers, DTAC Shops, and franchised shops have
expanded to 500 locations throughout the country and have been developed to provide one-stop points
of services. As of end 2002, there were 10 service centers in Bangkok and 12 centers in upcountry.
This will be increased to a total of 30 in 2003 and will be augmented by the introduction of mobile
service centers. The service centers and call centers form as increasingly important role in DTAC’s
CRM systems as not only do they represent the principal point of contact for most customers but are
also responsible for implementing many of the tangible programs targeted at existing customers.
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Distribution Channels

DTAC’s distribution has been central to its success in acquiring subscribers over the past two years.
Channels include DTAC Shops, independent dealers, and non-telecom outlets. As of 31 December
2002, there were 11 DTAC Shops operated by the Company, 396 franchised stores, 818 registered
independent dealers with 1,500 outlets, and 11,685 non-telecom outlets such as convenience stores,
mini-marts and gas stations (50-60% of which were outside Bangkok).

In 2002 the Company’s distribution focus moved from handsets to the provision of services (i.e. the
availability and accessibility of SIM cards and prepaid refill vouchers) to support the Company’s
segmentation strategy of pushing products to specific consumer groups at certain times by offering
incentives to vendors, targeted promotional campaigns and trade activities at shopping malls and
shops. DTAC Shops are not only central to product distribution systems but have an increasingly
important role in CRM plans. The number of outlets in and geographical diversity of the shop network
provides unique support for DTAC’s moves to increase the frequency and quality of contact with
customers.

Network Development

In the course of 2002, 984 new sites were added to the network. These sites were for both quality
improvement in existing coverage areas, including 403 indoor sites and expansion of the network
primarily in south and central  region. Growth in network capacity is primarily a factor of demand but this
is an area of increased focus for DTAC as the growth in new subscribers began to slow towards the end
of 2002. A senior management level investment committee has been established to review the financial
and/or commercial justification for all pr

Key Network Elements (at the end of 31 December 2002)

GSM1800 AMPS800 Total

Cell Site 4,275 1,134 5,409

Switching Capacity 7,110,000 1,500,000 8,610,000

oposed capital expenditure.
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AA
Accessible
Accessibility is the key to good communication. We are 
always friendly and approachable; we listen to what others 
have to say and we respond with well thought  through 
answers and solutions



2002 Annual Report DTAC 11

Results & Financing

Analysis of Consolidated Operating Results for the Year ended 31 December 2002

Total revenues for the year ended 31 December 2002 amounted to THB 32 billion, an increase of 7%
from 2001. This was largely attributable to the net effect of a 14% increase in revenue from telephone
services and a 20% reduction in revenues from mobile phones and accessories.

Service revenues grew to THB 25.16 billion driven by the significant increase in the customer base.
Consistent with DTAC’s policy of eliminating monthly fees and promoting airtime usage, declines in
revenue from Dlite and non-Dpackage customers who were subject to fixed monthly fee were off-set by
a 43% increase in airtime revenues (from both prepaid and postpaid customers).

Subscriptions December 02 December 01
Postpaid 1,250,226 1,862,093
Prepaid 4,204,336 875,505
Total 5,454,562 2,737,598

Revenues from Value Added Services (“VAS”) and international roaming also increased significantly.
The growth in revenues from these services combined amounted to 113% and accounted for 8% of
service revenues.

Revenues from the sale of mobile phones and accessories reduced by 17% to THB 5.84 billion as a
result of the discontinuance of the handset sales and distribution business in May 2002. This business
was transferred to United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. (“UD”), an associated company in which the
Company has a 25% equity interest.

ARPU 2002 2001 +/-
Postpaid 1,057 1,042 +1.44%
Prepaid 209 398 -47.5%
Blended 502 921 -45.5%

* ARPU is stated net of the value of airtime promotions used by customers during the period and
amortized in the income statement against gross revenue.

Average revenue per user (“ARPU”) in 2002 was THB 502, compared to THB 921 in 2001. This
reduction was primarily a result of the level of market penetration that had been reached by end 2002
that was in turn largely made possible by the availability and affordability of prepaid services. Prepaid
customers increased to 77% of the total subscriber base at end 2002 from 32% at end 2001. Postpaid
ARPU in 2002 increased by 1.44% as a significant number of lower usage customers elected to move
to prepaid service. Prepaid ARPU reduced by 47.5% as a result of a lower average level of usage by new
customers and the effect of promotional airtime utilized by new customers during certain periods of the
year. Promotional airtime is amortized in the income statement against gross airtime revenue. Total
promotional airtime amortized in 2002 was THB 2,345 million.

Total costs of sales and services amounted to THB 19.34 billion in 2002, an increase of 7% from 2001.
Of this total, the cost of providing telephone services accounted for THB 13.56 billion, a 23% increase
from the previous year. This was primarily due to;

1) Amortization of the deferred right to use network equipment increased by 32% due to the
expansion of the cellular network in 2001 and 2002;

2) Revenue share payable to CAT under the concession and the fixed line access charge
payable to TOT increased by 6% as a result of the increase in service revenues;

3) Production cost and sales commission for prepaid refill vouchers increased by 447%,
reflecting the increased number of prepaid customers; and,

4) International roaming charges paid to CAT from inbound roaming customers increased by
46% due to the increased number of inbound customers.

Cost of telephone sets and accessories of THB 5.26 billion showed a 22% reduction from 2001, in line
with the decrease in revenues from mobile phones and accessories.
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Selling and administrative expenses amounted to THB 7.35 billion, an 8% increase from the previous
year, primarily due to the net effect of;

1) Provision of doubtful accounts receivable from airtime revenues accounted for 10% of
postpaid revenues in 2002 compared to 3% in 2001. The increase in provision was
necessary due to the actual level of bad debt experienced at certain times of the year largely
due to the dynamic movement in the subscriber base;

2) Amortization of information system development costs and depreciation of computer
equipment increased by 20% due to increased investment in 2001 and 2002;

3) Advertising and promotional expenses decreased by 11% YoY and accounted for 6% of total
revenues compared to 8% in 2001 which included the expenses of the DTAC brand launch.

Selling and administrative expenses accounted for 23% of total revenues, the same as in the previous
year. Excluding the effect of the increased provision for doubtful accounts receivable, selling and
administrative expenses decreased by 8% and accounted for 18% of the total revenues, compared to
21% in 2001.

Financial costs reduced from THB 3,122 million to THB 2,871 million, a reduction of 8% from the
previous year, as a result of;

1) An aggressive liability management program that resulted in an average cost of debt of
5.83% in 2002 compared to 6.75% in 2001; and,

2) The one time provision for a premium payable on redemption of convertible bonds of THB
321 million in 2001.

EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2002 was THB 10.5 billion, a 15% increase from the previous
year. EBITDA margin also improved to 32%, from 30% in 2001.

In 2002 the Company changed its policy for accounting for income tax to recognize deferred income tax
asset and/or liabilities relating to temporary differences as defined in the Thai Accounting Standard No.
56, “Accounting for Income Taxes”. The effect of the accounting change has been recorded against the
beginning balance of retained earnings and the financial statement in the previous year has been
restated accordingly. Consequently, the income tax in 2002 declined to THB 976 million from THB
1,134 million in 2001.

2002 net earnings increased by 14% to THB 2,082 million, representing an earnings per share of THB
4.39 (2001, THB 3.84).

Analysis of Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2002

Assets

At 31 December 2002, total assets of THB 84.12 billion was 2% higher than at year end 2001.
Current assets of THB 8.4 billion compared to THB 14.4 billion at end 2001 and accounted for 10% of
total assets at 31 December 2002 (2001 - 17%). This reduction was due primarily to the combined
effect of;

1) Cash and cash equivalents reduced by 52% to THB 1,497 billion (see Liquidity below)
2) Total accounts receivable reduced by 25% to THB 4.03 billion, largely due to the transfer of

the mobile phone sales and distribution business to UD and an increase in the provision for
doubtful accounts receivable from the provision of wireless services;

3) Inventory of THB 277 million compared to THB 1,898 million at 31 December 2001 as a
result of the related business being transferred to UD.

Deferred right to the use of equipment of THB 63.11 billion increased by a net THB 7.76 billion primarily
as a result of the additional investment in the cellular network net of the current year amortization
charge.

Results & Financing
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Liabilities

As at 31 December 2002, total liabilities decreased by THB 288 million or 0.50% to THB 57.42 billion.
Of this THB 43.9 billion were long-term loans and bonds including the current portion due within the
next 12 months which accounted for 76% of total liabilities. The 7% increase in long-term loans and
bonds was primarily from the issuance of THB 5 billion debenture to refinance existing long-term
obligations and yen 6.704 billion loan facility guaranteed by the Export Credit Guarantee Department of
the Government of the United Kingdom to fund expansion of the cellular network. Short-term loans from
financial institutions were THB 1,002 million, a decrease of 47% from the previous year as they were
replaced by long-term funding.

Moreover, the Company entered into a THB 4 billion Facility agreement with a group of financial
institution in October 2002. As at 31 December 2002, none of this credit facility had been drawn down.

The Company uses proactive liability management operations to manage the cost, duration and risk of
the debt portfolio. As at December 2002, all foreign currency denominated long-term debt and the cost
of servicing it had been fully hedged to mitigate the risk of fluctuations in the underlying currency
exchange rates. In October 2002 as part of the cost optimization and tenor management plans, the
Company refinanced existing long-term debt by issuing a THB 5 billion debenture with a 5.8% fixed
coupon, 7 year bullet repayment with a A- credit rating and entering into a THB 4 billion syndicated loan
facility bearing interest at THBFIX+1.62% and with a 6 year tenor.

Deposit from the customers reduced from THB 1,413 million in 2001 to THB 655 million in 2002. The
Company has refunded deposit in cash and other forms of repayment, such as discounts on new
handsets and bonus credits for loyalty programs.

Accounts payable declined by 24% to THB 6.35 billion, largely due to a 93% decrease in accounts
payable for the purchase of handsets and related equipment as a result of the transfer of this business
to UD.

Liquidity

In 2002 cash flow from operating activities amounted to THB 10.8 billion compared to THB 3.2 billion
in 2001. However, cash and deposit at financial institutions amounted to THB 1.54 billion, a 51%
decrease compared to the previous year-end. The operating cash flows and new long-term loans and
debentures totaling THB 11 billion were the principal sources of funds for development of the cellular
network and other investing activities of THB 14.5 billion and debt repayments and refinancing of THB
9 billion.

2002 2001
Current ratio 0.49 1.07
D/E 1.62 1.57
Interest coverage ratio 2.29 2.27
EBITDA/Interest expense 4.33 3.95

As at 31 December 2002, the current ratio dropped to 0.49 time from 1.07 time in 2001 largely due to
the reduction in inventory and accounts receivable from the discontinuance of the handsets business
and an increase in the current portion of long-term loans.

Interest coverage ratio increased from 2.27 times in 2001 to 2.29 time in 2002. The interest coverage
ratio on a cash basis also increased from 3.95 time to 4.33 time in 2001 and 2002.

Capital Structure

Shareholders’ equity increased to THB 26.7 billion from THB 24.61 billion at the end of 2001 by the
transfer of the 2002 net income to retained reserves. This represents 32% of the total assets.

Total liabilities of THB 57.42 billion represent 68% of the total assets.
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Risk from Operations

• Risk from Changes in Legislation Relating to Telecommunication Business

The Government of Thailand has undertaken to fully liberalize the country’s telecommunication sector
by 2006 under obligations made to the World Trade Organization. The Telecommunications Services Act
2001 (“the Act”) provides the framework for this process. Section 80 of the Act allows existing
operators, at their option, to convert concessions granted by CAT and TOT into licenses to be issued by
a National Telecommunication Commission (“NTC”). The NTC will be an independent entity responsible
for regulating telecommunication businesses. However, to date the NTC has not been established, and
therefore, details of licensing arrangement are not yet available. Moreover, the process of converting
concessions into licenses involves a number of complex commercial issues. A number of frameworks to
assist in the process have been proposed over the past few years but as yet the interested parties have
not reached a consensus. The Company continues to evaluate the options available to it but no time
frame has been set for the completion of this process.

A fundamental principal of the Act is to create fair and free competition. As a result, new entrants may
lead to additional competition that may have an impact on the Company’s operating results. The pursuit
of fair and free competition may also result in the establishment of network interconnection
arrangements that may replace the access charges that DTAC currently pays to TOT. The Company
continues to work with government and other interested parties towards the introduction of such
arrangements; however, as yet no timeframe has been established for the completion of this process.

Section 8 of the Act limits foreign shareholdings in telecommunication businesses to 25%. This may
restrict the Company in obtaining a license from the NTC as non-Thai shareholders already have
interests in more than 25% of the Company’s issued share capital. The government has approved an
amendment to the Act to increase the foreign ownership limit up to 49% but as yet this has not been
presented to parliament for approval. However, in the absence of such an amendment, Section 80 of
the Act, provides the right of existing operators to continue businesses on the same basis as licensees.

• Risk from Competition

Two new operators entered the wireless services market in 2002. At least one more may commence
operations in 2003. While the entry of these new operators may contribute to development of the
overall market, they may also have an impact on the Company’s market share that in turn may have an
impact of the Company’s operating results. However, given the scale that DTAC has achieved in both
operating infrastructure and customer base, its established market position, widely recognized and
understood brands and sound financial position, the Company believes that it will be able to maintain
its competitiveness and remain a leading operator in the wireless services business and therefore
minimize the impact of any new entrants on its financial performance.

• Risk from Change in Technology

Wireless technology is constantly developing. The Company currently uses the most advanced GSM
technology including high-speed data using a GPRS (General Packet Radio Services) platform, so called
2.5G technology. Third generation (or 3G) technology is now being deployed in a number of advanced
markets where the demand for data services is likely to be considerable in the short term. DTAC
considers that the demand for high capacity, high-speed wireless data services in Thailand is still
limited, and is likely to be for some time. The company believes that the technology, resources and
spectrum available to it today will allow it to be able to continue to be competitive in all of its primary
service areas, even as demand for non-voice services increases.

Risk & Mitigation
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Financial Risk

• Risk from Bill Collection of Telephone Services

The Company’s customers can pay for service on a prepaid or postpaid basis. There is no collection risk
for prepaid customers as they pay in advance. Postpaid customers are issued monthly invoices to
collect service fees subsequent to usage. The Telecommunication Services Act 2001 prohibits
operators from collecting deposits for service. Previously the Company required a deposit of THB
3,000 per number registered on a postpaid basis. The Company has complied with the Act and
therefore there is an increased risks of bad debts from customers failing to pay their bills.

Various measures are used to manage the risk of bad debt, including setting up credit limits relative to
the customers’ behavior patterns, automated and personal payment reminder procedures, automated
pre-registration screening systems, independent debt collection, follow-up procedures for over-due
amounts, appropriate debt recovery legal action where necessary and sanctions against dealers who
are determined to have colluded with the bad debt customers. The Company also provides incentives to
pay bills before the due date by offering additional points in its customer award programs.

As at 31 December 2002, the amount of accounts receivable from bills 150 days overdue was THB
1,160 million, or 36.5% of the accounts receivable from telephone services, and accounted for 7% of
the postpaid revenues. The Company sets up allowances for doubtful accounts as a cer tain
percentage of postpaid revenue and aging of account receivable on a progressive basis. All balances
outstanding for more than 150 days are provided for in full. As at 31 December 2002, the Company’s
allowance for doubtful accounts was THB 1,206 million.

• Risk from Foreign Currency Exchange

In order to secure optimal financing terms, the Company may issue debt instruments denominated in a
foreign currency. To mitigate the risk of loss from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates,
the Company uses various financial instruments to swap its foreign currency denominated debt into
Thai Baht to the fullest extent practicable. At 31 December 2002, the Company’s foreign currency
denominated debt was equivalent to THB 18,754 million or 42.7% of long-term debt. The currency
exchange risk on this debt and the cost of servicing was fully hedged at 31 December 2002. The
Company also uses various derivative instruments to manage the cost and associated market risk of
the various debt instruments it has issued.

The Company imports equipment that it is required to pay for in various foreign currencies. To mitigate
the risk of loss from changes in currency exchange rates, the Company enters into forward exchange
contracts where deemed appropriate. In all derivative or other liability management transactions,
the Company seeks to minimize counter party risk by adopting a policy of only transacting with
Financial Institutions with a minimum “A” credit rating. Moreover, the Company has policy guidelines
for entering into agreements covering market conditions and mechanisms, including flexibility and
liquidity considerations.

• Risk from Debt Covenants

Certain of the Company’s loan facility agreements contain covenants relating to various matters,
including the maintenance of certain financial ratios. In the event that the Company is not in a position
to maintain the covenants, credit facilities that are in place may be cancelled, and the lenders would
have the right to require accelerated repayment if the default is not corrected within a prescribed period.
The debentures issued by the Company contain cross-default provisions that would give holders a right
to accelerated repayment in the event that providers of loan facilities require such a repayment.
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Facts & Figures

Who we are and what we believe in

Today DTAC is one of the leading telecommunication services providers in Thailand. Our customers
are at the core of what we do and our values are set out our promise “DTAC makes it easy”

Effective Accessible Sincere Yours

Vision

DTAC will be Thailand’s telecommunications service company of choice, meeting the needs for
communication and interaction among of people, businesses and communities that we serve.

Mission

To be a world class telecommunication company which;
- understands customer needs and provides innovative and effective solutions on a timely

basis
- provides a challenging and rewarding work environment where employees flourish
- is trusted by all our stakeholders

Milestones

Total Access Communication Public Company Limited was founded in August 1989 by the United
Communication Industry Plc. to provide wireless telecommunication services in 800 MHz and 1800
MHz frequency bands under a concession granted by the Communications Authority of Thailand (“CAT”).

Major events in the Company’s development generally and the current year specifically include:

November 1990 Received concession from CAT

February 1994 Entered into an Access Charge Agreement with TOT

February 1995 Registered as a public company

October 1995 Listed shares on the Stock Exchange of Singapore and sold 13% to the public

November 1995 Issued 42.8 million new shares to TOT

April 1996 Awarded ISO 9002 in Marketing, Sales and Technical Support for both 800 and 1800 MHz

businesses

November 1996 CAT agreed to extend concession period for 5 years until 2018

June 2000 Sold 21.5 million shares (6.34% of paid-up capital) to Telenor Asia Pte. Ltd., (“Telenor”) who

invested in the Company as a strategic partner

August 2000 Sold 48.5 million new shares to Telenor. As a result, Telenor holds a 29.94% equity interest in the

Company

March 2001 Launched new brand “DTAC” and a radically different approach to doing business in the Thai

market. The “makes it easy” brand promise was supported by transparent charging principles, fair

pricing of innovative products and a focus on customer service

April 2001 TOT agreed to amend the basis of calculating the Access Charge for prepaid service from THB 200

per month per number to 18% of the value of the prepaid vouchers sold

December 2001 Signed a USD 120 million loan facility maturing in 2009 with Finnish Export Credit Plc., a Finnish

government agency supporting exports

March 2002 Signed a long-term loan facility guaranteed by Export Credit Guarantee Department, a British

government agency, in the amount of Yen 6,704 million

April 2002 Unlocked IMEI (International Mobile Equipment Identity) codes to allow all mobile handsets to use

DTAC’ s network

May 2002 Discontinued handset and accessories sales and distributions by transferring this business to

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd., a joint venture between the Company and UCOM who hold
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and 75% equity interest, respectively.

June 2002 Signed a long-term loan facility in the amount of USD 30 million, maturing in 2010, with Nordic

Investment Bank, a lending institution to support industry in Nordic countries

October 2002 Signed a THB 4 billion-syndicated loan with a 6-year tenor at an interest rate of THBFIX+1.65% to

repay long-term loan facility and invest in network expansion

October 2002 Issued a THB 5 billion debenture with a 5.8% fixed coupon and 7-year bullet repayment to repay a

long-term loan facility

Concession Details

Frequencies Allocated: 1800 MHz

800 MHz Band B

Concessionaire: CAT

Concession Life: 27 Years (1991- 2018)

Operating Basis: Build-Transfer-Operate

Revenue Share: Year %

1991-1994 12

1995 25

1996-2005 20

2006-2010 25

2011-2018 30

Corporate Structure

Please see the Company’s principal affiliated companies in note 1 of the Financial Statements.
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Thai WirelessServices Sector

The Telephone Organization of Thailand, now TOT Corporation (“TOT”) and The Communications
Authority of Thailand (“CAT”), under the supervision of the Ministry of Transport and Communications,
now the Ministry of Information, Communications, and Technology, and private sector corporations
operating under concessions awarded by the two state agencies, are currently the principal providers of
service to the Thai telecommunications market. The concessions were granted in the early 1990s in the
form of Build-Transfer-Operate (“BTO”) contracts to assist the state agencies to keep pace with the
growing demand in the country for telecommunication generally, and wireless services in particular.

Under the BTO agreements, private sector enterprises are required to build and operate
telecommunication networks and provide services on a revenue sharing basis with the state agency
awarding the concession. Network infrastructure is transferred to the concession-granting agency once
it is installed. The concessionaire has the exclusive right to use the assets transferred for the term of
the concession. Thailand has obligations under its agreement with the World Trade Organization to fully
liberalize the telecommunication sector by 2006. Towards this, various initiatives have commenced
including planning for the privatization of TOT and CAT. In 2000 the Frequency Allocation Act established
a National Telecommunications Commission (“NTC”) to be the independent regulator of the industry.
Responsibility will be transferred to this agency once members have been selected. In 2001 the
Telecommunication Act was passed and established a basic framework for the industry. This Act
provides for the right of operators currently working under concession arrangements to convert these
contracts to licenses awarded by the NTC upon reaching mutual agreement with the state agencies
awarding the concessions.

Operators
Currently there are eight wireless services operators in the country. At end 2002, seven had
commenced operations.

Operator Major shareholder System  Concession Concession
granted by end

DTAC UCOM (42%) AMPS 800-band B CAT 2018

Telenor (30%) GSM 1800

TOT (9%)

AIS SHIN (41%) NMT 900 TOT 2016

SingTel (20%) GSM 900

DPC AIS (95%) GSM 1800 CAT 2018

TA-Orange Orange SA (49%) GSM 1800 CAT 2018

TA (41%)

CP Group (10%)

CAT State Enterprise CDMA 800-band A N/A N/A

Hutchison/ Hutchison (49%) CDMA 800-band A N/A N/A

CAT* CAT (35%)

TOT State Enterprise NMT 470 N/A N/A

Thai Mobile TOT (55%) GSM 1900 N/A N/A

CAT (40%)

Note : *As of Dec 31, 02, Hutchison/CAT has not yet launched services
Source :  Company
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Industry Dynamics,
The Thai wireless services sector has experienced unprecedented levels of growth and is likely to
continue to grow as the economy develops, all be at a slowing rate. At end 2002, the wireless services
market had around 17.58 million customers. This equates to a penetration rate of 28% compared to
13% at end 2001. Removal of IMEI locks, lower handset prices, emergence of prepaid service, network
expansion outside Bangkok, and entry of new players have spurred this increase of approximately 9.6
million net new subscribers.

90% of total subscriptions in the market at end 2002 was covered by two operators, DTAC and AIS. Two
new operators, TA Orange and Thai Mobile, launched their services in 2002, and Hutchison/CAT is
understood to be planning the launch of a CDMA service.
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Shareholder Structure

Total Access Communication Public Company Limited

Information on Share Capital and Shareholding

As at 12 March 2003
Share Captial

Authorized Share Capital : Bt 5,350,010,260
Issued Share Capital : Bt 4,744,161,260
Class of Share : Ordinary Shares of Bt 10 each
Voting Rights : One vote per share

Distribution of Shareholdings

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1-999 20,007 99.87 21,607 0.00
1,000-10,000  9 0.04 26,800 0.01
10,001-1,000,000  14 0.07 2,424,986 0.51
1,000,001 and above  4* 0.02 471,942,733 99.48
Total  20,034 100 474,416,126 100.00

* Includes CDP nominees (see details in the Statistics of Sharholding in the CDP in Singapore, page 21)

Substantial Shareholdings (Holding 5% and above)

No. of Shares %

United Communication Industry Plc. 197,538,593 41.64
Telenor Asia Pte Ltd.** 142,024,800 29.94
Telephone Organization of Thailand  42,829,050 9.03

Note: 19.26% of the issued share is held as part of the public float.

** With its 24.85% equity stake in United Communication Industry Plc., Telenor has an additional effective 10.35% indirect
share holding in Total Access Communication Public Company Limited.

Ten Largest Shareholders

No. of Share %

1. The Central Depository (Pte) Limited*** 231,368,629 48.77
2. United Communication Industry Plc 196,700,565 41.46
3. Telephone Organization of Thailand 42,829,050 9.03
4. Bankthai Public Company Limited 1,044,489 0.22
5. Mr.Surachai Sae-Lim 500,000 0.11
6. Mr. Boonlerd Kaimook 500,000 0.11
7. The Communication Authority of Thailand 500,000 0.11
8. CDP Nominees Private Limited***  314,200 0.07
9. Vickers Ballas & Company Pte. Ltd.  109,186 0.02

10. Ms. Phorjai Ruengsri 100,000 0.02

*** See details on the Statistics of Shareholding in the CDP in Singapore, page 21
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Total Access Communication Public Company Limited

Details of Shareholders (under CDP and CDP nominees in Singapore)
As at 12 March 2003

Distribution of Shareholdings

Size of Holdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1  -  999 521 11.74 199,467 0.09
1,000  -  10,000 3,230 72.80 13,024,000 5.62
10,001  -  1,000,000 677 15.26 25,556,513 11.03
1,000,001 and above 9 0.20 192,903,449 83.26
TOTAL 4,437 100.00 231,683,429 100.00

Twenty Largest Shareholders

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 149,339,885 64.46
2 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 18,378,200 7.93
3 Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd 11,925,914 5.15
4 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 4,316,200 1.86
5 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 2,621,119 1.13
6 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 2,019,833 0.87
7 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 1,793,600 0.77
8 Kim Eng Ong Asia Securities Pte Ltd 1,469,298 0.63
9 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 1,039,400 0.45

10 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 671,547 0.29
11 Kuoh Kwang Liao Stanley 492,000 0.21
12 Kee Guan Nam 470,400 0.20
13 Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 461,200 0.20
14 Wee Soon Kim Anthony 450,000 0.19
15 Citibank Consumer Nominees Pte Ltd 359,200 0.16
16 DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 342,192 0.15
17 Kho Kim Seok 310,000 0.13
18 G K Goh Stockbrokers Pte Ltd 305,274 0.13
19 HSBC Repubic Bank (Suisse) SA 225,000 0.10
20 HL Bank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 216,000 0.09

TOTAL 197,206,262 85.10
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DTAC & the Community

DTAC has continued to support social activities in accordance with His Majesty the King’s new
Sufficient Economy Concept and new Third-Stage Theory. The Company believes that the country
benefits from having citizens who are financially strong and independent and that this in turn will
support the Company’s business in the longer term. Details of some of the projects that the Company
supports are set out below.

Sam Nuek Rak Ban Kerd Project
760 students in junior high school to university graduate level
currently enroll in this project from 76 provinces (10 students
from each province). Sam Nuek Rak Ban Kerd Foundation is
dedicated to training talented youth through practical courses,

seminars, and other activities in order to develop their knowledge and leadership capabilities prior to
returning to their hometowns contribute to its development. In 2002, there were 61 graduates from the
1st year of the project, many of whom have returned to work in their hometowns.

Ruam Duaey Chuay Kan Co-op Project
This project is to support the development of wholesale distribution channels for farmers around the
country. It works with a network of farmers and consumers in local and overseas markets to build
business relationships and to promote trade between the participants. Activities pursued in the past
year included a project to promote barter trade between communities in different regions of the country,
a project to co-invest with rice mills to assist with production and marketing, and a project to support
activities of agricultural co-operatives in 4 southern provinces including seminars and trainings for
members to provide a better understanding of the co-operative system and the role that it plays in
the Thai economy.

Rak Ban Kerd Shop Project
The objective of this project is to establish a Thai franchise convenience store network under the
name of “Rak Ban Kerd Shop” offering general consumer products and local products from different
communities as well as a variety of services. This project helps to enhance the business knowledge
and capabilities of local store owners/operators.

RAKBANKERD.COM Project
This project supports the use of communication technology over the internet as a channel to send
and receive information and promote trade among communities around the country without the need
for a middleman.

Ruam Duaey Chuay Kan Mass Communication Project
This mass communication project has been established to encourage social support for economic
development under the Sufficient Economy and new Third-Stage Theory initiated by His Majesty the
King. The project includes sponsoring a local radio program “Ruam Duaey Chuay Kan” on FM 96.0 MHz.

DTAC also supports a charity fund-raising project to preserve the indigenous hornbill population in
Thailand. The Battery for Life Project financed by the Company provides for environmentally sensitive
disposal of discarded batteries from mobile phones. The Company also continues to sponsor private
organizations involved in developing activities for children, women, and handicapped people, nature
and environmental preservation and other social projects.
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The Company believes
that the country benefits from having citizens who are financially strong

and independent and that this in turn will support

 the Company’s business in the longer term.



S
Sincere
We are sincere in everything we say 
and do. We work tirelessly, selflessly 
(and always with a smile) to ensure 
that our promises and obligations are 
fulfilled. We openly share information 
colleagues and work together to find 
best solutions.
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Corporate Governance

The Directors and management of the Company are committed to the practice of appropriate corporate
governance to protect the interests of the Company and its shareholders. The Company adopts corpo-
rate governance practices, intended to promote transparency, enhance managerial efficiency and cre-
ate long-term shareholder value. These practices and procedures are generally in accordance with the
corporate governance codes recommended by the SGX and the principles of good corporate gover-
nance outlined by the SET, covering key matters such as

1. Operation and regulations of the Board of Directors;
2. Accountability and Audit;
3. Remuneration of Directors and senior executives; and,
4. Communication with shareholders.

Board of Directors:

Appointments to, and withdrawal and retirement from the Board of Directors are governed by the Company’s
Articles of Association that requires:

1. The Board of Directors must have at least 5 members and at least half of the Directors
appointed must have permanent residence in Thailand.

2. Shareholders appoint the members of the Board:
a) Voting is in proportion to the number of shares held.
b) Votes can be for one or a group of nominees but votes cannot be split between a number

of nominees.
c) Nominees with the highest number of votes are appointed.  Where there is a tie, the

chairman of the meeting has the casting vote.
3. A board member wishing to resign from his position must submit a letter of resignation to

the company.  A resignation takes effect when the Company receives it.
4. Shareholder’ meeting may resolve to remove any director before the expiration of his/her

term out of office by having votes of not less than three-fourths of the number of sharehold-
ers attending the meeting and having the rights to vote with no less than one-half of the
shares held by all the shareholders attending the meeting and having the right to vote.

At every Annual General Meeting (AGM) one-third of the Directors must retire determined on the basis
of the longest serving. A retiring director is eligible for re-election.

As at 31 December 2002, the Board consists of eleven Directors, including three Independent Direc-
tors, three are nominated by UCOM, three nominated by Telenor, and one each by TOT and CAT.  Details
of their academic and professional qualifications are set out on page 30 to 31.

Given the specific nature of these procedures, they vary in some aspects from those suggested in the
Code of Corporate Governance specifically with regards to the establishment of a Nominating Commit-
tee for the appointment of new directors and a formal assessment of the Board’s performance.

All relevant information on the company’s business is made available to new directors when first
appointed to the Board.

The members of The Board of Directors were;
Age Last Appointed Date

1. Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul Chairman 49 April 27, 2001
2. Mr. Somlak Sachjapinan Vice Chairman and Chief Technology Officer 57 April 27, 2001
3. Mr. Arve Johansen Vice Chairman 54 September 24, 2000
4. Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul1 Director and Co-CEO 42 April 27, 2001
5. Mr. Sigve Brekke Director and Co-CEO 44 September 24, 2000
6. Mr. Bjorn Magnus Kopperud2 Director 48 September 24, 2000
7. Mr. Pakkaporn SathienpakiranakornDirector 56 June 22, 2001
8. Mrs.Tasanee Manorot Director 58 April 30, 2002
9. M.R.Tongnoi Tongyai Director 68 April 30, 2002

10. Mr. Chulchit Bunyaketu Director 60 April 30, 2002
11. Mr. Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat Director 66 April 30, 2002

Remark: 1. Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul, a Director and Co-CEO, is the brother of Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul, Chairman of the Board of Directors.
2. On February 21, 2003, Mr. Kopperud resigned from the Board of Director, and Mr. Per Olav Fosse was appointed as a Director.
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The duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors are set out in the Company’s Article of Associa-
tion, the Public Company Limited Act and in the regulation of the Stock Exchange of Singapore. The
Board of Directors also performs under the Code of Best Practice guidelines issued by the Stock
Exchange of Thailand.

The principal duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors are to;

• Authorize and delegate responsibility for the performance of the Company’s business in
accordance with the law, the Company’s objectives and Article of Association, and resolu-
tion of Shareholders’ in general meeting.

• Establish the Company’s vision and strategic directions and to supervise the management
in the implementation of these.

• Ensure that the Company has internal control systems including an independent Internal
Department and Committee of the Board, and covering such matters as related party trans-
actions, and reporting to the shareholders and regulators.

• Report accurate and sufficient financial and general information to the shareholders and
investors generally.

The Board of Directors also defines the powers and authority of management to approve different types
of transactions by way of a Corporate Authority Index. This authority covers;

1. Expenses and capital expenditure on assets
2. General expenses
3. Human resources
4. Procurement
5. Entering agreements with third parties
6. The sales of products and services
7. Dealing with financial institutions
8. Authorization of Financial and Accounting matters
9. The write-off of assets

10. The approval of policies on the security on computer system
11. Budgets
12. Information disclosure
13. Customers Service policies

The Company’s Article of Association provides guidelines for transactions and matters that require
Board approval, which are generally those that are other than in the normal course of business or are
not specified in the Corporate Authority Index.

The Board of Directors meets as required but at least on a quarterly basis. During the financial year
ended 31 December 2002, the Board of Directors held 4 meetings. The Directors’ attendance at those
meetings was:

Directors No. of Meetings Attended
Mr.  Boonchai Bencharongkul 4
Mr.  Somlak Sachjapinan 4
Mr.  Arve Johansen 3
Mr.  Vichai Bencharongkul 4
Mr.  Sigve Brekke 4
Mr.  Bjorn Magnus Kopperud 3
Mr.  Pakkaporn Sathienpakiranakorn 4
Mrs. Tasanee Manorot 3
M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai 3
Mr.  Chulchit Bunyaketu 4
Mr.  Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat 4
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The Company has three independent directors; all are non-executive and carry out the functions inde-
pendently of the executive directors and management of the Company. They are

1. M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai
2. Mr.  Chulchit Bunyaketu
3. Mr.  Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat

The Chairman of the Board is responsible to schedule meetings and set meeting agendas, exercise
control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of information between the management and the
Board, and ensure compliance with the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.  The Chairman
is also the Chairman of the Board of Director’s meeting, and in the case of a tied vote, the Chairman of
the meeting has an additional casting vote.  Each director has one vote, and a decision at the meeting
is made by a majority vote.  A Director who has any interest in any matter is not entitled to vote on such
matter.

As a general rule, information papers are provided to the Board members to provide a better under-
standing of the matter to be discussed at least 7 days prior the Board meeting.  The Board of Directors
also has access to the Company’s management for additional insight and other relevant information on
any matter.

Board Committees:

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises 5 members.  The members are:

1. Mr. Arve Johansen (as Chairman)
2. Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul
3. Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul
4. Mr. Sigve Brekke
5. Mr. Bjorn Magnus Kopperud

The scope of work, responsibilities and authority of the Executive Committee will be as follows:

1. To review, consider, decide on and, if thought appropriate, approve and make recommenda-
tions on the following matters:

a. the strategies and policies proposed and/or adopted by/for the Company;
b. the business plans of the Company;
c. the annual budgets and other finance matters for the Company; and
d. such other matters which the Board of Directors shall have directed the Executive

Committee to consider, prior to the management of the Company submitting any of the
above to the Board of Directors of the Company for its consideration and approval.

2. To consider, review and follow up the management on the progress and the outcome of work
in relation to investments, including procurement and disposal of any assets, to be in line with the
business plan, policy, strategy and annual budget of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises of three independent directors.

These Committees responsibilities include;
1. Financial Reporting and Auditing

a) Examine the Company’s financial statement and accounts.
b) Make recommendations concerning the appointment of the independent auditor, and

consult with the independent auditor as necessary.
c) Present the Audit Committee’s Report, signed by the Chairman of the Audit Committee,

as an integral part of the Company’s Annual Report.
2. Monitoring, Supervision and Advice

a) Monitor the Company’s business to ensure that it is in accordance with the law and
regulations of the Stock Exchange of Singapore and any other relevant law.
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b) Making available accurate information about the Company’s finances in those instances
where inappropriate transactions, conflicts of interest or other anomalies occur.

c) Advising the Board of Directors on matters that: have an impact on the Company’s
financial status and its day to day operations; involve conflicts of interest and/or
corruption; relate to significant errors in the internal control system; are considered
likely to be contrary to the law and regulations of the Stock Exchange of Singapore or
other laws relevant to the Company’s business.

d) Directing and supervising the internal audit division to ensure that it performs indepen
dently and efficiently.

3. Internal Control
Reviewing the Company’s internal control and internal audit system to ensure that they are
suitable and effective

The Company’s internal audit functions and an external auditors report their findings and recommenda-
tions to the Audit Committee.

The Board of Directors’ Meeting 3/2002 held on 20 September 2002, at which all Independent Direc-
tors and Members of Audit Committee were in attendance, assessed the sufficiency of the Company’s
internal controls.  It founded that the Company’s internal control system in 5 areas, organization and
environment; risk management; operational control; information technology systems; and information
communication and monitoring systems. The Company’s internal control systems are sufficient and
suitable for the Company’s business. The external auditors also reported no significant weaknesses in
the internal control system; which are likely to have a material impact on the financial statement.
Moreover, the Board of Directors understood to maintain the development of internal control systems to
ensure that it will be continuously improved.

The Audit Committee meets on a monthly basis and its attendance during the year 2002 was:

Audit Committee No. of Meetings Attended
M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai 12
Mr.  Chulchit Bunyaketu 12
Mr.  Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat 12

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent directors.
1. M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai  (As Chairman)
2. Mr. Chulchit Bunyaketu
3. Mr. Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat

This committee shall have the responsibility to recommend to the Board a framework of the executive
directors’ remuneration and to administer the share option scheme for key executives.

Remuneration:

According to the Company’s Article of Association, the remuneration of Directors is determined by the
shareholders’ general meeting.

As of 31 December 2002, the Company did not have any employee share option schemes.
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The remuneration of the Directors and key executives in 2002 was:

Remuneration 1 of Directors
Directors’  Remuneration by Band    Meeting Base Bonus Share

allowance2 Salary options
Above SGD 250,000

Mr.Boonchai Bencharongkul3 - 54% 46% -
Below SGD 250,000

Mr.Vichai Bencharongkul4 - 100% - -
Mr.Sigve Brekke5 - - - -
Mr.Somlak Sachjapinan - 54% 46% -
M.R.Tongnoi Tongyai  100% - - -
Mr.Chulchit Bunyaketu 100% - - -
Mr.Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat 100% - - -
Mr.Pakkaporn Sathienpakiranakorn 100% - - -
Mrs.Tasanee Manorot 100% - - -

Note: 1. Based on amounts received in 2002.
2. Remuneration in the form of meeting allowance paid to 5 directors.
3. Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul was CEO until November 18, 2002.
4. Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul was appointed Co-CEO on November 13, 2002. His contract of employment includes fixed and variable components. The Variable

component is dependant on the Company and personal performance.
5. The remuneration for Mr.Sigve Brekke will be charged to the Company under a service agreement with Telenor. Mr. Brekke was appointed Co-CEO on November

13, 2002.  His contract of employment includes fixed and variable components.
6. Mr. Arve Johansen and Mr. Bjorn Magnus Kopperud did not receive any remuneration in 2002.

Remuneration1 of Key Executives (who are not directors)

Key Executives’ Remuneration by Band Base Salary  Bonus Shareoptions
Over SGD 250,000

Mr. Grant Ferguson 70% 30% -
Below SGD 250,000

Mr. Pitjapol Jantanasaro 69% 31% -
Mr. Sunti Medhavikul 73% 27% -
Mr. Thana Thienachariya2 100% - -
Mr. Virat Jaruchoktaweechai 67% 33% -
Ms. Wanna Swuddigul 86% 14% -

Note: 1. Based on amounts received in 2002.
2. Mr.Thana Thienachariya joined the Company in February 2002.
3. Remuneration for the management includes salaries, bonuses, and allowances for vehicle expenses.

Communication with Shareholders:

To ensure that the Company discloses important information correctly, timely, and transparently, it has
established an Investor Relations Department to engage in regular, effective and fair communication
with shareholders. The Company regularly reviews its procedures for reporting and information services
with a view improving the awareness and transparency of its business strategies, goals, and results.
Timely disclosure of material information is provided to shareholders in accordance with the Corporate
Disclosure Policy of the Singapore Exchange, and the shareholders are also kept informed of the Company’s
developments, operational information, quarterly operating results, and performances through announce-
ments and Investor Releases made public through the Singapore Exchange as well as the Company’s
website and other distribution channels.  The Company currently holds a conference call upon release
of its operating results every quarter, and the presentation material and Investor Release covering the
result is made available on the Company’s website.

The Company holds the Shareholder’s Annual General Meeting within 4 months from the end of each
financial year.  The notice of the meeting indicating the place, date, time, agendas, and matters to be
proposed to the meeting with appropriate detail including the annual report is sent to the Shareholders
not less than 7 days prior to the meeting date, and it is also published in a newspaper for 3 consecutive
days with at least 3 days prior to the meeting date.

The Company’s article association allows a shareholder to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on any
matter at any General Meeting.

At AGM, the shareholders are given the opportunity to provide their views and to ask the Directors and
Management questions.
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Mr. Somlak Sachjapinan
Vice Chairman of Board of Directors
Total Access Communication PLC.
1993 - present Vice Chairman of Board of Directors,
Total Access Communication PLC.
2002 - present Chief Technology Officer,
Total Access Communication PLC.
2001 - 2002 Chief of Engineering Committee,
Total Access Communication PLC.
1999 - 2001 Cheif Executive Officer,
Total Access Communication PLC.
1986 - 1991 Senior Executive Vice President ,
The Communications Authority of Thailand

Academic Background : Master of Science in
Electrical Engineering, Georgia Institute of
Technology, USA

Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul
Director
Total Access Communication PLC.
1991 - present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.
2002 - present Co-Chief Executive Officer,
Total Access Communication PLC.
1993 - present Director,
United Communication Industry PLC.
2002 - present Director,
United Distribution Business Co. Ltd.
2000 - present Director,
United Broadband Technology Co. Ltd.

Academic Background : Bachelor of Arts in
Business Management Northeastern Illinois
University, USA.

Mr. Sigve Brekke
Director, Total Access
Communication PLC.
2000 - present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.
2002 - present Co-Chief Executive Officer,
Total Access Communication PLC.
2000 - present Managing Director,
Telenor Asia Pte. Ltd.

Academic Background : Master of Public
Administration John F. Kennedy School of
Government, Harvard University, USA

Mr. Arve Johansen
Vice Chairman of Board of Directors
Total Access Communication PLC.
2002 - present Vice Chairman of Board of Directors,
Total Access Communication PLC.
1999 - present Senior Executive Vice President Telenor
AS and Chief Executive Telenor Mobile Communications
2000 - 2002 Director, Total Access Communication PLC.

Academic Background : Master of M.Sc.EE
(Telecommunications) Norwegian Institute of Technology,
Trondhiem, Norway

Board of Directors

Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul
Chairman of Board of Directors
Total Access Communication PLC.
1990 - present Chairman of Board of Directors, Total Access Communication PLC
2002 - present Chief Executive Officer, United Communication Industry PLC.
2002 - present Director, United Distribution Business Co. Ltd.
2001 - 2002 Chief Executive Officer, Total Access Communication PLC
1994 - 2000 Chief Executive Officer, United Communication Industry PLC.

Academic Background : Honorary Doctorial Degree in Economics Science, Ramkhamhaeng University
: Bachelor of Arts in Business Management, Northern Illinois University, USA
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M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai
Director, Total Access
Communication PLC.
2000 - present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.
2002 - present Chairman of Audit
Committees,
Total Access Communication PLC
2001 -  present Personal Private Counselor
to HRH the Crown Prince

Academic Background : Master of Arts,
Oxford University, UK

Mr. Bjorn Magnus Kopperud
Director, Total Access
Communication PLC.
2000 - present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

Academic Background : Lillestrom Gymnas,
A Level in Science Norwegian Technical
University, Computer Science, Norway

Mr. Chulchit Bunyaketu
Director, Total Access
Communication PLC.
2000 - present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.
1998 - present Managing Director,
Thai Oil Company Limited.

Academic Background : Master of Arts in
Political Science, Kent State University, USA

Mr. Pakkaporn Sathienpakiranakorn
Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
2001 - present Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
1994 - present Executive Vice President (Telecommunications
services), The Communications Authority of Thailand

Academic Background : Master of Science in Electrical
Engineer, Michigan State University, USA

: Master of Business Administration,
Thammasart University, Thailand

Mr. Soonthorn
Pokachaiyapat
Director, Total Access
Communication PLC.
2000-present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.
1974- present Head of Chaiyapat Law Office

Academic Background : Bachelor of Laws,
Thammasat University, Thailand

Mrs. Tasanee Manorot
Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
2001 - present Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
1999 - present Senior Executive Vice President (Finance),
Telephone Organization of Thailand

Academic Background : Bachelor of Business Administration,
Chulalongkorn University, Thailand

*

* On Feb 21, 2003, Mr. Kopperud resigned from the Board
of Directors, and Mr. Per Olav Fosse was appointed as a
Director of the Company.
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Executive
Management

Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul
Co-Chief Executive Officer, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2002 - present Co-Chief Executive Officer, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1991 - present Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1993 - present Director, United Communication Industry PLC.
• 2002 - present Director, United Distribution Business Co. Ltd.
• 2000 - present Director, United Broadband Technology Co. Ltd.

Academic Background: Bachelor of Arts in Business Management, Northeastern Illinois University, USA

Mr. Sigve Brekke
Co-Chief Executive Officer, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2002 - present Co-Chief Executive Officer, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2000 - present Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2000 - present Managing Director, Telenor Asia Pte. Ltd.

Academic Background: Master of Public Administration, John F. Kennedy School of Government,
Harvard University, USA

Mr. Somlak Sachjapinan
Chief Technology Officer, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2002 - present Chief Technology Officer, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1993 - present Vice Chairman of Board of Directors, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2001 - 2002 Chief of Engineering Committee, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1999 - 2001 Cheif Executive Officer, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1986 - 1991 Senior Executive Vice President, The Communications Authority of Thailand

Academic Background: Master of Science in Electrical Engineering, Georgia Institute of Technology, USA

Mr. Grant Ferguson
Chief Financial Officer, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2001 - present Chief Financial Officer, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1999 - 2000 Director and Chief Financial Officer, Metro Pacific Corporation, Philippines
• 1998 - 1999 Director and Chief Financial Officer, First Pacific Company, Indonesia
• 1996 - 1997 Vice President, Treasury, First Pacific Company, Hong Kong

Academic Background: BSC (Honors) Business Management & Administration,
University of Aston Management Center, Birmingham, United Kingdom

2

4

3

1

1

2

3

4
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Mr. Pitjapol Jantanasaro
Assistant Chief Executive Officer-Corporate/Internal Affair, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2002 - present Assistant Chief Executive Officer-Corporate/Internal Affair,
Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2001 - 2002 Senior Group Director - Corporate, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2000 - 2001 Deputy Managing Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1998 - 2000 Department Director of CSU, United Communication Industry PLC.

Academic Background: Bachelor of Electrical Engineering, King Mongkut’s Institute of Technology Ladkrabang,
Thailand

Mr. Premon Pinskul
Assistant Chief Financial Officer & Controller, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2002 - present Assistant Chief Financial Officer & Controller,
Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2001 - 2002 Assistant Chief Financial Officer- Accounting,
Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2000 - 2001 Assistant Managing Director and Department Director of Accounting,
Total Access Communication PLC.

• 1999 - 2000 Assistant Managing Director and Department Director of CSU,
Total Access Communication PLC.

Academic Background: Master of Business Administration, University of Detroit, USA
Master of Arts (Economics), University of Detroit, USA

Ms. Kulvadee Kanjanabose
Assistant Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2002 - present Assistant Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1993 - 2001 Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1997 - 1998 Chief Financial Officer and Vice President, Wireless Communication Service

Academic Background: Master of Business Administration, University of North Texas, Denton, USA

Mr. Virat Jaruchoktaweechai
Customer Service Director, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2001 - present Customer Service Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 1994 - 2001 Total Access Communication PLC.

Academic Background: Master of Business Administration, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand

Mr. Sunti Medhavikul
Postpaid Business Director, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2003 - present Postpaid Business Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2001 - 2002 Sales Group Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2000 - 2001 Distribution Management Department Director,

Total Access Communication PLC.
Academic Background: Master of Business Administration, The University of the Thai Chamber of Commerce,

Thailand

Mr. Thana Thienachariya
Prepaid Business Director, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2003 - present Prepaid Business Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2002 Product&Service Group Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2001 Consumer Product Management Department Director,

Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2000 Convergence Group Director, Total Access Communication PLC.

Academic Background: Master of Business Administration, Washington State University, USA

Ms. Wanna Swuddigul
Marketing Group Director, Total Access Communication PLC.

• 2001 - present Marketing Group Director, Total Access Communication PLC.
• 2000 - 2001 TA Orange Co., Ltd.

Academic Background: Master of Business Administration, Western Illinois University, USA
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Director’s Report

The Directors present their report to the members together with the audited accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2002.

1. Directors of the Company
a. The Directors of the Company in office at 31 December 2002 were:
1. Mr.Boonchai Bencharongkul Chairman of the Board of Directors
2. Mr.Somlak Sachjapinan Vice Chairman of Board of Directors
3. Mr.Arve Johansen Vice Chairman of Board of Directors
4. Mr.Vichai Bencharongkul Director and Co-CEO
5. Mr.Sigve Brekke Director and Co-CEO
6. Mr.Bjorn Magnus Kopperud Director
7. Mr.Pakkaporn Sathienpakiranakorn Director
8. Mrs.Tasanee Manorot Director
9. M.R.Tongnoi Tongyai Director
10. Mr.Chulchit Bunyaketu Director
11. Mr.Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat Director

b. The following Directors who held office at the end of the financial year have, according to the
register required to be kept under Section 164 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in
the ordinary shares of the Company and in the shares, debentures and rights of the
subsidiaries of the Company’s holding company:

Directors’ interest in shares
(unit: share)

Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul 2

Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul 1

2. Audit Committee
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors comprises three independent Directors. Members of the
Committee are:

1. M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai
2. Mr. Chulchit Bunyaketu
3. Mr. Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat

The Committee recommended to the Board of Directors the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as
auditors of the Company at the annual general meeting of shareholders.

3. Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company is to provide wireless communication services in Thailand under
a concession granted by the Communication Authority of Thailand.

Previously, the company was also involved in the sale of mobile handsets and other communication
accessories. However, during the year 2002, the Company transferred its handset sales and
distribution business to a new company, United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. (UD), in which the
Company holds a 25% equity interest. There has been no other significant change in the nature or
scope of the principal activities during the financial year covered by this report.

4. Results of the financial year (in thousands of Thai Baht)
2002 2001

Profit for the financial year

(after taxation and minority interests) 2,082,060 1,821,712

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Company during the financial year
have not been affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.
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5. Dividend
The directors do not propose the payment of a dividend (2001, Nil).

6. Material movement in reserves and provisions
There was no material movement in reserves and provisions during the financial year except as
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

7. Issue of debentures
Company Debentures Issued Purpose
Total Access THB 5 billion Debenture with To refinance existing

Communications PLC. a 5.8% fixed coupon and 7-year long-term obligations

bullet repayment

8. Related Party Transactions
Pursuant to the requirements of Chapter 9 of the listing Manual issued by the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited, the Company has established procedures to identify, report and where
necessary, seek appropriate approval from the Board for related party transactions.

9. Other statutory information
a. Before the accounts of the Company were finalized, the Directors took reasonable steps to

ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off for bad debts and
the making of provision for doubtful amounts receivable and satisfied themselves that all
known bad debts had been written off and that adequate provision had been made for
doubtful accounts receivable.

b. At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would
render (i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful
accounts receivable inadequate to any substantial extent; and (ii) the values attributed to
current assets misleading.

c. At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise
dealt with in the report of accounts, which would render any amount stated in the accounts
of the Company, and the consolidated accounts misleading.

d. As at the date of this report, (i) there are no charges in the assets of the Company which
have arisen since the end of the financial year to secure the liabilities of any other person,
and (ii) there are no material contingent liabilities which have arisen since the end of the
financial year.

e. Other than as set out in 4. above, in the opinion of the Directors, no item, transaction or
event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the financial year
and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operation
of the Company and of the Group for the financial year in which this report is made.

10. Statutory Auditors:
Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, our auditor, have expressed their willingness to accept
re-appointment as statutory auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul
Chairman of Board of Directors
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Y

Yours
Above all, we have are dedicated to 
being a positive and influential Force in 
the lives of all our customers, 
colleagues, stakeholders and the Thai 
Community at large. We use our 
innovative skills to make the world 
better place through both the solutions 
that we deliver and the manner in 
which we do so. We are part of the 
community and we are always at your 
service.
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To Shareholders of Total Access Communication Public Company Limited

The Audit Committee composed of 3 independent directors, which are M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai, as a
Chairman, Mr. Chulchit Bunyaketu, and Mr. Soontorn Pokachaiyapat as a Committee. The Audit
Committee has conducted its activities with full responsibility in compliance with the Charter of the
Audit Committee as approved by the Board of Directors. The main duty of the Audit Committee entails
reviewing the Company’s financial reporting, corporate governance, and internal control.

Meetings of the Audit Committee have been held monthly throughout the year to review the above
issues within the given authority before submitting its finding to the Board of Directors. And it can be
concluded in detail as follows:

1. The review of the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries regularly
by quar ter and annually to ensure that those financial statements are presented in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and adequately disclosed.

2. The approval of the audit plan of the Internal Audit Department, including Operational and
IT audit plans, for the year 2002

3. The monitoring of the audit results of the internal auditing control systems as prepared by
Internal Audit Department

4. The establishment of guidelines and procedures in various subjects as deemed suitable for
good governance with emphasis on the completion of the Corporate Authority Index

5. The monitoring and follow up of all management and operations of the core businesses
groups.

In our opinion, the Company presents the financial statements in conformity with laws and regulations
to disclose and appropriate and adequate information. The Company’s operation per formance
presents good corporate governance and appropriate internal control systems.

M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai
Chairman of the Audit Committee
Total Access Communication Public Company Limited

Audit Committee Report
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Related Party Transactions

The Company and its subsidiaries, associates, and other related companies enter into business trans-
actions with each other in 2001 and 2002. Such transactions were in the normal course of business,
and approved on an arm-length basis with pricing policy shown in the Note to Financial Statement No. 6
and Note No. 7 of the 2002 financial statements. The principal transactions are summarized as follows:

Details of Transactions
Aggregate value of

all interested
person

transactions during
the financial year

under review

2001 2002
(mil. Bt.) (mil. Bt.)

435 716

3,331 1,780

- 6,316

206 -

323 -

1,524 141

98 -

- 407

256 762

168 0.7

Related Parties’ Nature of
relationships

UCOM is a major shareholder of TAC
with 41.64% equity interest.

UCOM is a major shareholder of TAC
with 41.64% equity interest.

UCOM and TAC hold 75% and 25%
equity interest in UD, respectively.

UCOM is a major shareholder of TAC
with 41.64% equity interest.

UCOM is a major shareholder of TAC
with 41.64% equity interest.

UCOM is a major shareholder of TAC
with 41.64% equity interest.

UIH is a subsidiary of UCOM with 75%
shareholding, and UCOM is a major
shareholder of TAC with 41.64% equity
interest.

UCOM and TAC hold 75% and 25%
equity interest in UD, respectively.

UCOM is a major shareholder of TAC
with 41.64% equity interest.

UIH is a subsidiary of UCOM with 75%
shareholding, and UCOM is a major
shareholder of TAC with 41.64% equity
interest.

Rational and Necessity of the
Related Party Transactions

UCOM’ s business is to operate
distribution and installation of
telecommunication equipments. For the
synergy of the whole business group,
TAC sold its products at the price, which
was closed to cost.

For the synergy of the whole business
group, TAC sold products at the price,
which was closed to cost.

TAC terminated handset sales and
distribution business, which was
transferred to a newly established
company, UD, at market price, which
approximated net book value.

TAC is a wireless service provider, and
the transaction was in the normal course
of business. Its pricing was at the
market price. However, the Company
has changed its policy and has ceased
collecting numbering fee since the first
quarter of 2002.

TAC has changed its policy and has
ceased collecting numbering fees. It has
returned such fees by issuing credit
notes to UCOM.

UCOM is a major impor ter and
distributor, and it sold handsets at the
price of cost plus 0.5% margin and
material supply at the price of cost plus
7-15% margin.

It was the payment for equipment order
and network installation to UIH. UIH has
experiences in this type of business, and
it is for the Company’s convenience to
operate the business. It charged at the
price of cost plus 10-15% margin.

The operation was in the normal course
of business, and UD is an importer of
the handsets, and it charged at market
price.

It is for the Company’s convenience to
operate the business. UCOM charged
the ser vice fee at cost plus 7-15%
margin.

UIH has experiences in this type of
business, and it is for the Company’s
convenience to operate the business.
UIH charged the service fee at market
price.

Name of interested person

1. Sales of goods

1.1 TAC sold Sim Card,
Dprompt Card,
Transmission Equipment,
and handsets to UCOM.

1.2 TAC sold NOKIA handsets
to UCOM.

1.3 TAC transferred handset
business to UD.

2. Sales of services

2.1 TAC received numbering
fees from UCOM.

2.2 TAC deducted accounts
receivable of numbering fees
for UCOM.

3. Purchase of goods

3.1 TAC purchased handsets,
material supply for the
installation of base stations
from UCOM.

3.2 TAC purchased material supply
from UIH.

3.3 TAC purchased handsets from
UD.

4. Service expenses

4.1 TAC paid UCOM for supporting
fee.

4.2 TAC paid UIH for maintenance
fee, Sub-Contract fee, and cell
site installation fee.
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Note:

Abbre. Company Name Nature of Business
UIC UCOM International Co., Ltd. To provide consulting services for business expansion in overseas
UCS United Communication Subscriber Co., Ltd. To operate mobile handsets sales
NC Network Consultant Co., Ltd. To provide domestic wireless data communication services
UIH United Information Highway Co., Ltd. To provide lease line and high speed network services.
UTEL United Telecom Sales and Services Co., Ltd. To provide services in installation of telecommunication equipments

Measures and Procedures for the Approval of the Related Party Transactions
The Company has fully complied with the rules and regulation of Stock Exchange of Singapore. Moreover, the Board of Directors
also conducts the business under the Code of Best Practice Guideline ruled by the Stock Exchange of Thailand, which requires the
Company to have strict measures for the related party transactions involving with major shareholders, directors, management,
and other related persons as well as the authorizes persons who have no conflict of interests to be responsible for approval of
those transactions on arms’ length basis. In addition, the audit committee comprising of all independent directors has also
monitored those transactions.

Name of interested person

4.3 TAC hired Telenor for
consultation services under
Management Contract.

4.4 TAC hired UTEL to install
equipments for base stations.

5. Loan

5.1 TAC provided loan to UCOM.

6. Accounts receivable

6.1 Amount due from UIC arose
from share purchase of a com-
pany of TAC.

6.2 Amount due from NC arose
from purchase of equipments.

6.3 Amount due from Phone Point
arose from loan.

6.4 Amount due from UCS arose
from service fees.

6.5 Amount due from UD arose
from handset sales

7. Accounts payable-trade

7.1 Amount due to UCOM arose
from service fees

7.2 Amount due to UTEL arose from
service fees

7.3 Amounted due to UD arose
from purchase

Aggregate value of
all interested

person
transactions during
the financial year

under review

2001 2002
(mil. Bt.) (mil. Bt.)

120 100

820 534

20 -

64 -

170 -

268 268

68 6

- 1,614

- 185

- 40

- 31

Related Parties’ Nature of
relationships

Telenor is a major shareholder of TAC
with 29.94% equity interest.

TAC and UTEL have UCOM as a major
shareholder with the shareholding of
41.64% in TAC and 100% in UTEL.

UCOM is a major shareholder of TAC
with 41.64% equity interest.

TAC and UIC have UCOM as a major
shareholder with the shareholding of
41.64% in TAC and 100% in UIC.

TAC and NC have UCOM as a major
shareholder with the shareholding of
41.64% direct interest in TAC and 100%
indirect interest in UIC.

TAC and Phone Point have UCOM as a
major shareholder with the shareholding
of 41.64% in TAC and 15% in Phone
Point.

TAC and UCS have UCOM as a major
shareholder with the shareholding of
41.64% in TAC and 100% in UCS.

UCOM and TAC hold 75% and 25%
equity interest in UD, respectively.

UCOM is a major shareholder of TAC
with 41.64% equity interest.

TAC and UTEL have UCOM as a major
shareholder with the shareholding of
41.64% in TAC and 100% in UTEL.

UCOM and TAC hold 75% and 25%
equity interest in UD, respectively.

Rational and Necessity of the
Related Party Transactions

Telenor has experiences in telecommu-
nication business. The service fee was
determined under service contracts,
which were approved by the directors
and management who do not have any
conflict of interest.

UTEL has experiences in the business
in the installation of telecommunication
equipments, and its service contract
was closed to the rates of fered to
general customers.

It is for the Company’s convenience to
operate the business, and the interest
rate was at market rate, equal to MLR.

The transaction was from the share pur-
chase of a company owned by TAC.
Currently, UIC has terminated its opera-
tion, and TAC has written of f this
amount.

NC borrowed TAC for the project called
Mobile Data phase 1. Currently, NC has
terminated its operation, and TAC has
written off this amount.

TAC provided loan to Phone Point to sup-
por t its operation since TAC saw
business potential in Phone Point.
Currently, Phone Point has terminated
its operation, and TAC has set an
allowance for doubtful account in full
amount.

The transaction was from the purchase
of handset equipment. Currently, UCS
has terminated its operation, and TAC
has set an allowance for doubtful
account in full amount.

The transaction was from the purchase
of handsets. TAC has transferred its
handset business to UD.

The transaction was from the service
fees for the installation of
telecommunication equipment.

It was from the service contract to hire
UTEL to install base stations.

The transaction was from the purchase
of handsets and accessories.
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Report of Independent Auditor

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Total Access Communication Public Company Limited

I have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Total Access Communication Public Company Limited and
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2002 and 2001 and the related consolidated statements of earnings, changes in
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the separate financial statements of Total Access
Communication Public Company Limited for the same periods. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
management of the Company and subsidiaries as to their correctness and the completeness of the presentation. My
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audits.

I conducted my audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that I plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. I believe that my audits provide a reasonable basis for my opinion.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial positions of
Total Access Communication Public Company Limited and subsidiaries, and of Total Access Communication Public Company
Limited as at 31 December 2002 and 2001 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the years then ended, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Without qualifying my opinion on the above financial statements, I draw attention that during 2002, the Company changed its
accounting policy for accounting for income tax as described in Note 4 to the financial statements.

Rungnapa Lertsuwankul
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 3516

Ernst & Young Office Limited
Bangkok : 7 February 2003

Report of Independent Auditor
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BalanceSheets
TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2002 AND 2001

                                    (Unit : Baht)

         CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

Note 2002                          2001 2002 2001

                  (Restated) (Restated)

ASSETS                                  

CURRENT ASSETS                                  

Cash and cash equivalents 28 1,496,726,015           3,093,113,237 1,410,938,684 2,969,729,857

Accounts receivable - trade, net 6 2,410,320,974           4,149,144,429 2,394,857,648 4,130,129,833

Accounts receivable - trade : related parties                                  

Accounts receivable - trade : subsidiaries 7  -                                 - 203,425,971 183,859,250

Accounts receivable - trade : associated company 7 1,614,338,317                                 -  1,614,338,317  -

Accounts receivable - trade : related companies 7 6,182,265           1,190,985,895 6,182,265  1,186,067,141

Advances to related parties                                  

Advances to subsidiaries 7  -                                 - 97,597,221 89,488,125

Advances to related companies 7 1,419,106                75,144,363  - 73,624,076

 Inventories - net 8 276,596,997           1,898,173,706 253,633,011 1,852,136,165

Other current assets                                  

Current portion of account receivable from assignment of right 12 1,321,805,786              610,467,273 1,321,805,786 610,467,273

Others 9 1,295,898,658           3,359,769,021 1,256,678,909  3,307,897,461

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8,423,288,118         14,376,797,924 8,559,457,812 14,403,399,181

NON-CURRENT ASSETS                                  

Deposits at financial institutions 30.4 36,905,361                53,452,497  - 16,497,608

Investments in subsidiaries accounted for under equity method 10  -                                 - 103,274,917 173,109,533

Investment in associated company accounted for under equity method 10 69,070,384                                 -  69,070,384  -

Other long-term investments 11 216,757,198              227,325,515  215,449,263 227,325,515

Amounts due from and long-term loans to related parties

Long-term loans to subsidiaries 7  -                                 - 1,272,469,609  1,376,571,401

Amounts due from a subsidiary 7  -                                 - 1,560,743,138 2,026,636,020

Amounts due from related companies 7 5,363,286                31,396,033 256,687 30,853,722

Account receivable from assignment of right - net of current portion 12 2,741,588,599           3,114,201,154 2,741,588,599 3,114,201,154

Property, plant and equipment - net 13 5,772,212,711           5,073,782,864 4,117,770,586  2,975,351,978

Deferred right to use of equipment - net 14 63,109,747,784         55,352,171,115 62,512,324,135 54,716,744,738

Equipment under installation 182,285,332              741,777,408 182,285,332 741,777,408

Deferred tax assets 228,188,552              275,131,437 228,188,552 275,131,437

Other non - current assets                                  

Goodwill - net 2.2.2 258,655,428              282,813,368 258,655,428 282,813,368

Deposits and prepayment for purchase and installation of equipment 546,027,319           1,005,750,737 546,027,319 1,005,750,737

Others 15 2,533,079,607           1,786,924,214 3,325,971,468 1,762,115,862

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 75,699,881,561         67,944,726,342 77,134,075,417 68,724,880,481

TOTAL ASSETS 84,123,169,679         82,321,524,266 85,693,533,229 83,128,279,662

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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BalanceSheets
 TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2002 AND 2001

(Continued)

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

Note 2002 2001 2002 2001

(Restated) (Restated)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Short-term loans from financial institutions 16 1,001,698,630 1,897,262,197 1,001,698,630 1,897,262,197

Accounts payable - trade 17 6,089,225,897 7,917,045,919 6,055,856,345 7,869,204,994

Accounts payable - trade : related parties

Accounts payable - trade : subsidiaries 7  -  - 15,158,063  -

Accounts payable - trade : associated company 7 31,512,485  -  -  -

Accounts payable - trade : related companies 7 225,787,319 3,771,287 225,787,319  -

Advances from related parties

Advances from associated company 7 20,063,387  - 20,063,387  -

Advances from related companies 7 237,508,250 155,165,024 234,127,493 155,165,024

Current portion of long-term loan from a subsidiary 7  -  -  440,936,824 428,803,792

Current portion of long-term loans 18 876,502,493  - 876,502,493  -

Current portion of bonds 19 6,000,120,000  857,160,000  6,000,120,000 857,160,000

Other current liabilities

Corporate income tax payable 427,269,034 553,787,110 424,920,728 553,787,110

Interest payable 467,363,056 471,112,961  296,460,300 402,659,051

Accrued expenses 457,783,822 807,501,760 435,687,972 780,277,741

Accounts payable - others 422,593,118 330,258,467 411,254,959 329,827,294

Unearned revenue from telephone service - prepaid system 589,297,644 94,540,391 589,297,644 94,540,391

Others 196,427,208 288,871,361 191,910,629 248,668,882

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 17,043,152,343 13,376,476,477 17,219,782,786 13,617,356,476

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long-term loan from a subsidiary - net of current portion 7  -  - 13,895,139,611 13,090,642,494

Long-term loans - net of current portion 18 4,534,383,116 6,500,000,000 4,534,383,116 6,500,000,000

Bonds - net of current portion 19  32,448,820,000 33,448,940,000 19,142,720,000 20,142,840,000

Convertible bonds 20 37,935,000 37,935,000 37,935,000 37,935,000

Advances received for registration of number 21 13,192,540  9,834,718 13,192,540 9,834,718

Customers’ deposits 22 655,083,442 1,412,911,737 655,083,442 1,412,911,737

Advance received - other 12 2,515,582,638 2,750,593,557  2,515,582,638 2,750,593,557

Other non-current liabilities 172,408,022 172,408,022 58,105,226 58,105,226

Provision for loss on investments in subsidiaries 10  -  -  918,996,292 895,635,699

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 40,377,404,758 44,332,623,034 41,771,137,865 44,898,498,431

TOTAL LIABILITIES 57,420,557,101 57,709,099,511  58,990,920,651 58,515,854,907

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital

Registered

    535,001,026 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each 535,001,026 5,350,010,260 5,350,010,260  5,350,010,260

Issued and fully paid

    474,416,126 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each 4,744,161,260 4,744,161,260 4,744,161,260 4,744,161,260

Premium on ordinary shares 20,808,142,634 20,808,142,634  20,808,142,634 20,808,142,634

Shares of the Company held by a subsidiary 23 (25,400,450) (25,400,450) (25,400,450) (25,400,450)

Unrealised gain from change in valuation on available-for-sale securitites 11 8,128,000  -  8,128,000  -

Retained earnings

Appropriated - statutory reserve 24 426,907,671 318,331,965 426,907,671  318,331,965

Unappropriated (deficit) 740,673,463 (1,232,810,654) 740,673,463 (1,232,810,654)

 1,167,581,134 (914,478,689) 1,167,581,134 (914,478,689)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 26,702,612,578 24,612,424,755 26,702,612,578 24,612,424,755

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  84,123,169,679 82,321,524,266 85,693,533,229  83,128,279,662

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

Note 2002 2001 2002 2001

(Restated) (Restated)

REVENUES FROM SALES AND SERVICES

Revenue from telephone services 25,156,760,326 22,028,476,511 25,156,760,326 22,028,476,511

Revenue from sales of telephone sets and prepaid starter kits 5,841,622,030  7,280,090,806 5,841,622,030  7,280,090,806

Revenue from sales of retail goods 576,502,599 439,858,963  -  -

Other operating income 25 425,986,170 351,105,378 383,950,332 199,388,729

TOTAL REVENUES FROM SALES AND SERVICES 32,000,871,125 30,099,531,658 31,382,332,688 29,507,956,046

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES

Cost of telephone services 13,560,130,925 11,066,597,488 13,564,390,227 11,068,939,534

Cost of sales of telephone sets and prepaid starter kits 5,260,991,971 6,748,216,266 5,256,506,552 6,730,763,120

Cost of sales of retail goods 518,275,825 336,563,502  -  -

TOTAL COST OF SALES AND SERVICES 19,339,398,721 18,151,377,256 18,820,896,779 17,799,702,654

GROSS PROFIT 12,661,472,404 11,948,154,402 12,561,435,909 11,708,253,392

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  (7,351,405,620)  (6,786,195,033) (7,072,890,289)  (6,232,901,708)

OPERATING PROFIT 5,310,066,784  5,161,959,369  5,488,545,620  5,475,351,684

INTEREST INCOME  407,788,456 485,186,612  407,456,401 485,328,810

OTHER INCOME 225,108,056 85,534,621 140,957,398 85,042,653

FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAIN (LOSS)  (32,900,570)  345,051,113  (3,078,686) 435,044,600

NET OPERATING PROFIT  5,910,062,726 6,077,731,715  6,033,880,733 6,480,767,747

SHARE OF LOSS FROM INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER EQUITY METHOD  -  -  (93,195,209)  (393,327,082)

SHARE OF PROFIT FROM INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATED COMPANY

ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER EQUITY METHOD 19,070,384  -  19,070,384  -

EARNINGS BEFORE FINANCIAL COST AND INCOME TAX 5,929,133,110 6,077,731,715 5,959,755,908 6,087,440,665

FINANCIAL COST 26 (2,870,772,683) (3,122,431,480) (2,911,538,279) (3,140,716,709)

CORPORATE INCOME TAX 27 (976,300,604) (1,133,588,627)  (966,157,806) (1,125,012,348)

NET EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR 2,082,059,823  1,821,711,608 2,082,059,823 1,821,711,608

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net earnings 4.39 3.84 4.39 3.84

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net earnings 4.39 3.84 4.39 3.84

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

EarningsStatements
TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002 AND 2001
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED
Retained earnings (deficit)

Unrealised gain on
change in valuation

Issued and Shares of the of investment Appropriated
paid - up Premium on Company held in available-for-sale - statutory

Note share capital ordinary shares by a subsidiary securities reserve Unappropriated Total

Balance - beginning of year 2001, 4,744,161,260 20,808,142,634 (1,972,877,710)  - 318,331,965 (1,655,426,061) 22,242,332,088

as previously reported

Cumulative effect of the change in accounting

policy relating to accounting for income tax 4  -  -  -  -  - 548,381,059 548,381,059

Reclassification of accounts 5  -  - 1,947,477,260  -  -  (1,947,477,260)  -

Balance - beginning of year 2001, as restated 4,744,161,260 20,808,142,634 (25,400,450)  -  318,331,965 (3,054,522,262) 22,790,713,147

Net earnings for the year 2001, as restated  -  -  -  -  - 1,821,711,608 1,821,711,608

Balance - end of year 2001, as restated 4,744,161,260 20,808,142,634 (25,400,450)  - 318,331,965 (1,232,810,654) 24,612,424,755

Unrealised gain on change in valuation

of investment in available-for-sale securities  -  -  -  8,128,000  -  - 8,128,000

Transferred to statutory reserve  -  -  -  - 108,575,706 (108,575,706)  -

Net earning for the year 2002 - - - - - 2,082,059,823 2,082,059,823

Balance - end of year 2002 4,744,161,260 20,808,142,634  (25,400,450) 8,128,000  426,907,671 740,673,463 26,702,612,578

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

(Unit : Baht)

COMPANY ONLY
Retained earnings (deficit)

Unrealised gain on
change in valuation

Issued and Shares of the of investment Appropriated
paid - up Premium on Company held in available-for-sale - statutory

Note share capital ordinary shares by a subsidiary securities reserve Unappropriated Total

Balance - beginning of year 2001, 4,744,161,260 20,808,142,634 (1,972,877,710)  - 318,331,965 (1,655,426,061) 22,242,332,088

as previously reported

Cumulative effect of the change in accounting

policy relating to accounting for income tax 4  -  -  -  -  - 548,381,059 548,381,059

Reclassification of accounts 5  -  - 1,947,477,260  -  -  (1,947,477,260)  -

Balance - beginning of year 2001, as restated 4,744,161,260 20,808,142,634 (25,400,450)  -  318,331,965 (3,054,522,262) 22,790,713,147

Net earnings for the year 2001, as restated  -  -  -  -  - 1,821,711,608 1,821,711,608

Balance - end of year 2001, as restated 4,744,161,260 20,808,142,634 (25,400,450)  - 318,331,965 (1,232,810,654) 24,612,424,755

Unrealised gain on change in valuation

of investment in available-for-sale securities  -  -  -  8,128,000  -  - 8,128,000

Transferred to statutory reserve  -  -  -  - 108,575,706 (108,575,706)  -

Net earning for the year 2002 - - - - - 2,082,059,823 2,082,059,823

Balance - end of year 2002 4,744,161,260 20,808,142,634  (25,400,450) 8,128,000  426,907,671 740,673,463 26,702,612,578

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002 AND 2001
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Statements of Cash Flows
TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002 AND 2001

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

(Restated) (Restated)

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities

Net earnings 2,082,059,823 1,821,711,608 2,082,059,823 1,821,711,608

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash

provided by (used in) operating activities :-

Share of loss from investments in subsidiaries accounted for under equity method  -  -  93,195,209 393,327,082

Share of profit from investment in associated company accounted for under equity method (19,070,384)  -  (19,070,384)  -

Gain from repurchases of convertible bonds  -  (54,562,675)  - (54,562,675)

Allowance for inventory obsolescence 327,251,573  104,027,400 328,684,568 107,556,676

Allowance for declining in value of inventories  (19,991,693)  20,000,000 (19,991,693) 20,000,000

Provision for impairment of fixed assets  10,371,829 41,487,315 10,371,829 41,487,315

Allowance for doubtful accounts : account receivable - trade ; related companies  - 17,288,382  - 17,288,382

Allowance for doubtful accounts : account receivable - TOT (2,157,524) 245,137,620 (2,157,524) 245,137,620

Allowance for doubtful accounts : amounts due from and long-term loans to related parties  - 6,219,363  -  -

Allowance for doubtful accounts : advances to related companies  -  57,047,552  - 57,047,552

Provision for diminution in value of other long-term investments  3,742,350 21,000,000  -  11,000,000

Loss on sale of investment in a subsidiary  -  10,000,000  -  -

Depreciation and amortisation  4,954,442,769 3,881,233,830 4,823,892,353  3,613,379,490

Amortisation of goodwill 24,157,940 24,157,941 24,157,940  24,157,941

Amortisation of advance received - other  (235,010,919) (235,007,133)  (235,010,919)  (235,007,133)

Amortisation of deferred interest expense on bills of exchange :

long-term loan from subsidiary  -  - 321,360,062  -

Amortisation of premium forward contracts  -  - 770,698,742  -

Gain from sales of property, plant and equipment  (63,543,356)  - (6,579,471)  -

Decrease in deferred tax assets 46,942,885 273,249,622 46,942,885 273,249,622

Provision for the premium payable on redemption of the convertible bonds  - 320,959,602  - 320,959,602

Unrealised exchange gain/loss : long-term loan to a subsidiary  -  - 81,701,792 (74,268,939)

Unrealised exchange gain/loss : long-term loan from a subsidiary  -  -  66,925,955 269,737,790

Unrealised exchange gain/loss : bonds  - 269,737,790  -  -

Unrealised exchange gain/loss - long-term loans  61,234,340  - 61,234,340  -

Exchange gain from convertible bonds redemption from exercising the put option  - (174,090,941)  - (174,090,941)

7,170,429,633 6,649,597,276 8,428,415,507 6,678,110,992

Decrease (increase) in operating assets

Accounts receivable - trade, net 1,738,823,455 (929,908,734) 1,735,272,185 (936,519,250)

Accounts receivable - trade : subsidiaries  -  - (19,566,721) (72,195,252)

Accounts receivable - trade : associated company (1,614,338,317)  - (1,614,338,317)  -

Accounts receivable - trade : related companies 1,184,803,630 (466,001,677) 1,179,884,876 (466,470,963)

Advances to subsidiaries  -  - (8,109,096)  62,894,485

Advances to related companies  73,725,257 (25,481,524) 73,624,076 (23,993,277)

Inventories 1,324,639,593 (1,002,475,371) 1,299,775,592 (1,016,847,538)

Other current assets 2,066,027,887 (1,994,827,515) 2,053,376,075 (2,030,924,936)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities

Accounts payable - trade  (790,057,638) 799,538,593 (775,586,268) 835,133,652

Accounts payable - trade : subsidiaries  -  - 15,158,063 (44,350,161)

Accounts payable - trade : associated company 31,512,485  -  -  -

Accounts payable - trade : related companies 222,016,032 (3,747,363) 225,787,319 (1,724,417)

Advances from associated company 20,063,387  -  20,063,387  -

Advances from related companies 82,343,226 124,663,315 78,962,469 124,740,971

Other current liabilities 34,653,525 913,389,211  (40,236,544)  908,857,581

Advances received for registration of number 3,357,822 (74,034,431) 3,357,822  (74,034,431)

Customers’ deposits (757,828,295) (840,696,444) (757,828,295) (840,696,444)

   Net cash from operating activities 10,790,171,682 3,150,015,336 11,898,012,130 3,101,981,012

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities

Decrease in deposits with maturity of more than 3 months

or have commitment 16,547,136  396,463  16,497,608  -

Sale of investment in a subsidiary  -  20,000,000  -  -

Investment in associated company  (50,000,000)  -  (50,000,000)  -

Decrease (increase) in other long-term investments  14,953,967 (45,114)  20,004,252  (45,114)

Decrease in long-term loan to a subsidiary  -  -  22,400,000  -

Decrease in amounts due from subsidiaries  -  -  465,892,882 190,365,361

Decrease (increase) in amounts due from related companies  26,032,747 (16,947,153)  30,597,035 (21,396,367)

Decrease (increase) in account receivable from assignment of right (338,725,958) 234,359,610 (338,725,958)  234,359,610

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (1,716,622,066)  (1,366,480,453)  (1,791,931,991) (1,382,908,152)

Proceed from sales of property, plant and equipment 332,028,218  - 11,921,869  -

Acquisition of deferred right to use of equipment

and equipment under installation  (11,812,759,795)  (12,650,409,141) (11,812,759,795)  (12,650,409,141)

Decrease in deposits and prepayment for purchase

and installation of equipment 459,723,418  933,485,156  459,723,418 933,485,156

Increase in other non-current assets  (1,414,664,273) (516,093,604)  (1,414,986,851)  (522,755,984)

Net cash used in investing activities  (14,483,486,606) (13,361,734,236)  (14,381,367,531)  (13,219,304,631)

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities

Increase (decrease) in short - term loans from financial institutions  (895,563,567) 1,897,262,197 (895,563,567) 1,897,262,197

Decrease in long - term loan from a subsidiary  -  - (37,508,257)  (36,742,019)

Repayment of long-term loan from a subsidiary  -  -  (1,134,855,217)  (3,948,500,000)

Drawn down of long - term loans  6,070,389,845  6,500,000,000 6,070,389,845 6,500,000,000

Repayment of long-term loans  (7,220,738,576)  -  (7,220,738,576)  -

Proceeds from bonds 5,000,000,000  15,000,000,000  5,000,000,000  15,000,000,000

Repayment of bonds (857,160,000)  (3,948,500,000)  (857,160,000)  -

Payment of repurchase of the convertible bonds  -  (486,457,679)  -  (486,457,679)

Repayment of convertible bonds from exercising the put option  - (10,603,770,651)  -  (10,603,770,651)

Net cash from financing activitie  2,096,927,702  8,358,533,867  924,564,228 8,321,791,848

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,596,387,222) (1,853,185,033)  (1,558,791,173) (1,795,531,771)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  3,093,113,237 4,946,298,270  2,969,729,857  4,765,261,628

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 28)  1,496,726,015 3,093,113,237 1,410,938,684 2,969,729,857

- - - -

Supplemental cash flow information :-

Cash paid during the year for :-

Interest  2,874,522,588  2,671,460,988  3,017,737,030 2,664,212,595

Corporate income tax 1,097,648,727 562,375,198  1,088,204,017  553,628,909

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Cash Flows
TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002 AND 2001

(Continued)
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Notes to Financial Statements
TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002 AND 2001

1. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2002 and
2001 of Total Access Communication Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and the following subsidiaries :-

Percentage of shareholding Nature of business

2002 2001

Subsidiaries directly held by the Company

WorldPhone Shop Company Limited 100 100 Operates franchised retail stores

TAC Property Company Limited 100 100 Asset management

TAC Investment Limited 100 100 Holding company (registered in

Western Samoa and financial

statements presented in US dollars)

TAC Service Company Limited 100 100 Provided customer services for paging

customers (ceased operation in 2001)

Subsidiaries held through TAC Property Company Limited

Eastern Beach Company Limited 100 100 Land development

TAC Finance Company B.V. 100 100 Finance company (registered in Netherlands and

financial statements presented in US dollars)

Viphavadee Office Building Company Limited 100 100 Property development (office building)

Material intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated from the consolidated financial statements. The
book value of investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s financial statements and the shareholders’ equity of the
subsidiaries are eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

Assets and revenues of the Company which are included in the consolidated financial statements constitute 98 and
98 percent of the consolidated totals, respectively (2001 : 96 and 98 percent, respectively).

The financial statements of two subsidiaries, Viphavadee Office Building Co., Ltd. and WorldPhone Shop Co., Ltd.,
from which the combined assets as at 31 December 2002 of Baht 802 million (2001 : Baht 567 million), and the
combined revenues for the year ended 31 December 2002 of Baht 599 million (2001 : Baht 531 million), included in
the consolidated financial statements and the combined provisions for loss on investments as at 31 December 2002
of Baht 211 million (2001 : Baht 126 million), accounted for under the equity method, included in the Company’s
financial statements, were audited by other auditors. The amounts included for these subsidiaries in the
consolidated financial statements and the Company’s financial statements are based solely on the report of the
other auditors.

2. GENERAL INFORMATION

2.1 Company general information

The Company was incorporated as a public company limited under the laws of Thailand and listed on the Stock
Exchange of Singapore in 1995. The Company operates its business in Thailand and is principally engaged in
the operation of wireless telecommunications services and the distribution of handsets and accessories.

The Company’s registered address is 333/3 Chai Building, Vibhavadi Rangsit Road, Ladyao, Chatuchak,
Bangkok.

2.2 Agreements to operate cellular telephone services

2.2.1 On 14 November 1990, the Company entered into an agreement with the Communications Authority of
Thailand (“CAT”) to operate cellular telephone services. Under the Cellular Telephone Service Agree-
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Notes to Financial Statements
 TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002 AND 2001

(Continued)

ment with CAT (“the Concession”), the Company has an obligation to transfer operating assets to CAT
free of charge. The value added tax imposed on the transfer of these assets has been charged to CAT
and recorded as “Value added tax refundable from CAT” in the balance sheet.

The Concession originally covered a 15-year period but the agreement was amended on 23 July 1993
and 22 November 1996 when the Concession period was extended to 22 years and 27 years,
respectively. The service rate and fees charged to subscribers are subject to approval by CAT. The
Company is obliged to comply with the various conditions and pay fees in accordance with the
Concession.

Fees are based on the greater of a minimum annual payment and a percentage of revenues from
services. The percentages of revenues from service for each year and minimum annual payment are
as follow :-

(Unit : Million Baht)

Percentage of

Year revenues per annum Minimum Annual Payment

1 - 4 12 22 to 154

5 25 353

6 - 15 20 382 to 603

16 - 20 25 748 to 770

21 - 27 30 752 to 1,200

The Company commenced commercial operations on 16 September 1991.

2.2.2 On 9 November 1995, the Company entered into an agreement with the Telephone Organisation of
Thailand (“TOT”) to allow TOT to hold ordinary shares of the Company. The Company issued 42,829,050
new shares to TOT at a par value of Baht 10 each. TOT was not required to pay for the shares as the
Company deemed the transaction to be beneficial to its interests and, therefore the cost of the shares
was recorded as “Goodwill” and is amortised over the concession period.

As a result of the joint interest, TOT and CAT agreed to reduce fees payable by the Company,
with the reduction being made to the fee paid by the Company to CAT under the Concession as follows
:-

(Unit : Million Baht)

Year ended Fee reduction

15 September 1995 173

15 September 1996 455

15 September 1997 662

15 September 1998 to 2011 827 (per year)

15 September 2012 579

15 September 2013 248

This agreement provides that if TOT wishes to sell the shares within 3 years from the date of
acquisition, the Company is required to find parties to acquire the shares from the TOT, at the price
specified in the agreement.

On 22 September 1998, TOT instructed the Company to arrange for the sale of its shares in
accordance with the agreement.

2.2.3 Assignment of rights and obligations under an agreement to operate cellular telephone services with
Wireless Communications Services Company Limited.
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On 19 June 1996, the Company, CAT and Wireless Communications Services Company Limited
(“WCS”) entered into an agreement to assign the rights and obligations under the Agreement to
Operate Cellular Telephone Services. With the consent of CAT, the Company assigned and transferred
to WCS a certain portion of the Company’s rights and obligations to operate a cellular telephone
service (Digital PCN 1800). The Company would receive approximately Baht 2,250 million from WCS
as consideration for allowing WCS to use the Company’s network and facilities and the assignment of
part of the rights and obligations to operate the cellular telephone service to WCS.

In April 1998, the Company took over collections from the customers of WCS, and has recognised such
collections as revenues since that time. The Company stopped recognising the consideration
receivable from WCS in the third quarter of 1998, and set up a full provision for the consideration
receivable. The Company entered into a Restructuring Agreement with WCS and WCS’s shareholders,
under which a conditional waiver of WCS’s obligations to the Company was provided and WCS’s
subscribers were transferred to the Company. However, as a result of the transfer of WCS’s subscrib-
ers, the Company has incurred obligations totalling approximately Baht 62 million for the repayment of
deposits to customers who may cancel their service agreements in the future, which were not recorded
in the Company’s accounts.

On 10 April 1998, the Company entered into an “Airtime Provider Agreement” with IEC to allow IEC to
provide services as specified in the agreement. IEC was to provide services to existing customers that
IEC has obtained under a Marketing Provider Agreement with WCS until 10 April 1998 and to new
customers that IEC obtained under this agreement, starting from 11 April 1998. IEC receives a fee
based on a percentage on revenues from telephone services.

2.2.4 Assignment of rights and obligations under an agreement to operate cellular telephone services with
Digital Phone Company Limited

On 19 November 1996, the Company, CAT and Digital Phone Company Limited (“DPC”) entered into an
agreement to assign rights and obligations under the Agreement to Operate Cellular Telephone
Services. With the consent of CAT, the Company assigned and transferred to DPC a certain portion of
the Company’s rights and obligations to operate a cellular telephone service (Digital PCN 1800). The
Company agreed to terminate the Agreement on the Appointment of Agent to provide the cellular
telephone service (Digital PCN 1800) made with Samart Corporation Public Company Limited (“Samart”)
prior to 16 March 1998 or on such earlier date that DPC commenced commercial operations.

On 7 January 1997, the Company, Samart and DPC entered into a Shareholders Agreement and other
relevant agreements which include the following conditions :-

(a) The Company will receive approximately Baht 5,400 million from DPC as consideration for
allowing DPC to use the Company’s network and facilities and the transfer to DPC of part of the
rights and obligations to operate the cellular telephone service. The Company recognises this
amount in the earnings statement as a reduction against cost of providing service evenly over
the remaining concession period. The amount recognised in 2002 was Baht 235 million (2001
: Baht 235 million).

(b) The Company had to pay approximately Baht 1,238 million to Samart, representing the
advance received from Samart under the Service Provider Agreement, due to the termination of
that agreement.

(c) The Company received payment from Samart based on its net operating profits earned a
service provider until the effective termination date of the Service Provider Agreement. The
Company recognised the amount in the earnings statements as other income in 1997 and
1998.
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On 9 October 1998, the Company entered into an Amendment Agreement to the Unwind Agreement to
receive early payment a certain amounts before the repayment date in the Unwind Agreement in return
forgiving discount on the consideration due of approximately USD 10 million and rescheduled the
repayment of the balance of the consideration.

DPC commenced commercial operation of the cellular telephone service on 16 March 1998.

2.3 Excise tax

On 28 Januar y 2003, the Ministr y of Finance announced the introduction of an excise tax for
telecommunication businesses which requires excise tax to be paid on mobile telecommunication services, at
a rate of 10 percent of revenue from telecommunications services. This tax can be deducted from fees to be
paid to CAT, as described in Note 2.2.1, and is payable to the Excise Department on a monthly basis.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Thai accounting standards pronounced by the
Institute of Certified Accountants and Auditors of Thailand and with the Accounting Act B.E. 2543. Thai accounting
standards are based on and similar to those issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC)
except for Accounting for Employee Benefits and Accounting for Financial Instruments : Recognition and
Measurement, which are not yet covered by Thai accounting standards. Certain disclosures are also not required to
be made under Thai standards.

Significant accounting policies adopted by the Company and subsidiaries are summarised below :-

3.1 Revenue recognition

Revenue from telephone service is recognised as income when service has been rendered. Revenues from
sales and service are the invoiced value of goods supplied and service rendered after deducting discounts.
Revenue is shown excluding value added tax.

3.2 Investments

Investments in subsidiaries (in the financial statements of the Company only) are accounted for under the
equity method. Losses in excess of costs of investments are presented as liabilities under the caption
“Provision for loss on investments in subsidiaries”.

Other long-term investments in marketable securities which the Company intends to hold as available-for-sale,
are stated at fair value. Gain or loss arising from changes in the value of such investment is separately shown
in shareholders’ equity under the caption “Unrealised gain/loss on changes in the value of investments in
available-for-sale securities”.

Other long-term investments in non-marketable equity securities, which the Company holds as other
investments, are stated at cost. Loss on impairment of other investments are recognised in the earnings
statements when there is permanent diminution in value of the investments.

3.3 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (moving average and first-in, first-out basis) and net realisable
value.

3.4 Trade accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts

Trade accounts receivable are stated at their net realisable value. Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided



2002 Annual Report DTAC52

for estimated losses that may be incurred in the collection of receivables. The allowance is based on
collection experience and the current status of receivables outstanding at the balance sheet date.

3.5 Property, plant and equipment/depreciation

Property is stated at cost. Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of
an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working
condition for its intended use. Expenditure for additions, improvements and renewals are capitalised, while
expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to the earnings statements. When assets are sold or
retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting
from their disposal is included in the earnings statements. Depreciation of buildings and equipment is
calculated by reference to their cost on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives :-

Buildings 20 years

Building improvement 5 -15 years

Leasehold right over the period of lease

Equipment for supporting Cellular

  Telephone Services Concession period and 10 years

Cell site improvement 20 years

Others 5 years

No depreciation is provided for land, building in progress, work in progress and equipment under installation.

3.6 Amortisation

Deferred right to the use of equipment is amortised on a straight-line basis over the Concession period.

Deferred charges, which are mainly expenditures relating to transmission facilities, software development
and software fees, deferred loss as a result of early redemption of bills of exchange, loan arrangement fees
and bond underwriting fees, are amortised on a straight-line basis over periods of 2 to 10 years or the
Concession period.

3.7 Deferred income tax assets/liabilities

Deferred income tax assets/liabilities are recognised for temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes as at the balance sheet
date. This will be allocated to future periods when the income is realised, or the expenses provided for, are
actually incurred and considered deductible for income tax purposes.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences if it is highly probable that
the Company will generate sufficient taxable profits from its future operations to utilise these assets.

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are calculated based on the current corporate income tax rate of 30 percent.

(This accounting policy is in accordance with the accounting standard pronounced by the Institute of Certified
Accountants and Auditors of Thailand but not yet effective under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543.)

3.8 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Thai Baht at exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction date. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency outstanding at the balance sheet date
are translated into Thai Baht at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date, with the exception of
those covered by forward exchange contracts which are accounted for at the contracted rate. Exchange gains
and losses are included in the earnings statements.
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Discounts or premiums, the difference between the spot exchange rate and the forward exchange rate at the
inception of the contract, are deferred and amortised to earnings over the contract period using the
straight-line method.

3.9 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net earnings for the year by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings for the year, after adjusting for the effect of
transactions with dilutive potential to ordinary shares, by the total sum of the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares to be issued for
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

3.10 Use of accounting estimates

Preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in certain
circumstances requires management to make estimates and assumptions that effect amounts reported in
the accompanying financial statements and notes thereto. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

During the third quarter of 2002, the Company changed its accounting policy for accounting for deferred income tax.
The amended policy now recognises deferred income tax assets/liabilities relating to temporary differences in
accordance with the Thai Accounting Standard No. 56 “Accounting for income taxes”. The Company recorded the
effect of the accounting change against the beginning balance of retained earnings and restated the previous year’s
financial statements, presented herein for comparative purposes, as though deferred tax were originally recorded.
The adjustment has the effect of decreasing the net earnings for the year ended 31 December 2002 by Baht 47
million (decreasing Baht 0.10 per share) and decreasing the net earnings for the year ended 31 December 2001 by
Baht 273 million (decreasing of Baht 0.58 per share). The cumulative effect of the accounting change has been
presented under the heading of “Cumulative effect of the change in accounting policy relating to accounting for
income tax” in the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity.

5. RECLASSIFICATION OF ACCOUNTS

At 31 December 2000, the Company had treasury stock of Baht 1,972 million which was separately presented in the
financial statements as “Shares of the Company held by a subsidiary” in the shareholders’ equity. This amount
included losses amounting to Baht 1,947 million from sales of such stock. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Institute
of Certified Accountants and Auditors of Thailand (ICAAT) issued a new guideline regarding the recording of treasury
stock which requires that the losses from sales of treasury stock be charged directly to retained earnings and that
the treasury stock account include only treasury stock which has not yet been sold. This is effective for financial
statements of accounting periods ended on or after 31 December 2001. As a result, the Company has amended its
accounting policy accordingly and has adjusted the losses from sales of such stock against the beginning balance of
retained earnings of 2001. This is regarded as a change in accounting standards made in conformity with the newly
issued ICAAT guideline. This accounting change has no effect on shareholders’ equity as it involves only a
reclassification of accounts.

6. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - TRADE

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Accounts receivable - telephone services 3,178,568,199 4,072,642,804 3,178,568,199 4,072,642,804

Accounts receivable - international
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

  telephone roaming services 345,146,758 284,005,645 345,146,758 284,005,645

Accounts receivable - sales of

  telephone sets 91,118,960 424,334,838 76,677,127 408,898,319

Accounts receivable - others 103,027,343 96,995,072 45,127,473 41,494,940

Total 3,717,861,260 4,877,978,359 3,645,519,557 4,807,041,708

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,307,540,286) (728,833,930) (1,250,661,909) (676,911,875)

Accounts receivable - trade, net 2,410,320,974 4,149,144,429 2,394,857,648 4,130,129,833

Aging of accounts receivable - telephone services are as follows :-

(Unit : Thousand Baht)

2002 2001

Less than 1 month 1,617,277 2,737,795

1 month to 3 months 198,958 445,458

3 months to 5 months 202,314 313,476

Over 5 months 1,160,019 575,914

Total 3,178,568 4,072,643

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,205,540) (635,645)

Accounts receivable - telephone services, net 1,973,028 3,436,998

The Company has set up allowance for doubtful accounts after consideration of the availability of customer deposits
and collection experience. The Company establishes the allowance for doubtful accounts as a certain percentage of
revenue from telephone services on a progressive basis and provides against the balance of all accounts receivable
- telephone services which are outstanding more than 150 days.

Aging of accounts receivable - sales of telephone sets are as follows :-

(Unit : Thousand Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Accounts receivable - dealers

Less than 1 month 26,704 353,049 26,704 353,049

1 month to 3 months 591 7,582 591 7,582

Over 3 months 49,382 48,535 49,382 48,267

76,677 409,166 76,677 408,898

Accounts receivable - hire purchase

  (net of deferred interest) 14,442 15,169 - -

Total 91,119 424,335 76,677 408,898

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (37,941) (40,393) (23,499) (24,956)

Accounts receivable - dealers, net 53,178 383,942 53,178 383,942

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company and its subsidiaries enter into business transactions with each other and with related companies,
principally in respect of the purchase and sales of goods, the rendering and receiving of services, cash advances and
loans. These companies are related through shareholding and directorships. Such transactions, which have been
concluded on terms and conditions determined by the Company and those related companies and which are in the
normal course of business, are summarised below :-
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(Unit : Million Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY Pricing Policy

2002 2001 2002 2001

Transactions with subsidiaries (eliminated from the consolidated financial statements)

Sales of goods - - 58 50 market price

Interest income - - - 2 note 7.1

Service expenses - - 66 89 cost plus margin of 10 percent

Interest expense - - 431 635 note 7.3

Transactions with associated company : United Distribution Business Co., Ltd.

Sales of goods 6,316 - 6,316 - market price which approximates

net book value

Services income 29 - 29 - as per agreement

Purchases of goods 407 - 213 - cost plus certain margin

Transactions with related company : United Communication Industry Plc. ( “UCOM” )

Sales of goods 2,496 3,766 2,496 3,766 price determined by the parties concerned

which is close to cost

Service income - 206 - 206 market price (numbering fee)

Purchases of goods 141 1,524 141 1,524 Handsets : cost plus 0.5 percent margin

Equipment : cost plus 7-15

percent margin

Service expenses 762 256 762 256 cost plus 7-15 percent margin,

as per agreement

Credit notes for return of numbering fee - 323 - 323 see note 25

Transactions with other related companies

Purchase of goods - 98 - 98 cost plus certain margin

Service expenses 58 247 58 247 cost plus certain margin, as per

agreement

Service fees for installation of

  cell site equipment 534 820 534 820 as per agreement

Management fee 100 120 100 120 as per agreement

The significant outstanding balances arising from the above transactions, as separately presented in the balance
sheets, comprised the following :-

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Accounts receivable - trade : subsidiaries

WorldPhone Shop Co., Ltd. - - 203,425,971 183,852,550

Others - - - 6,700

Total accounts receivable - trade : subsidiaries - - 203,425,971 183,859,250

Accounts receivable - trade : associated company

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. 1,614,338,317 - 1,614,338,317 -

Total accounts receivable - trade : associated company 1,614,338,317 - 1,614,338,317 -

Accounts receivable - trade : related companies

United Communication Industry Plc. - 1,132,766,849 - 1,132,766,849

United Communication Subscribers Co., Ltd. 5,908,646 68,487,983 5,908,646 68,487,983

Less : Allowance for doubtful account - (17,288,382) - (17,288,382)

5,908,646 51,199,601 5,908,646 51,199,601

United Information Highway Co., Ltd. 16,442 25,555 16,442 25,555

Others 257,177 32,950,220 257,177 2,075,136

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts - (25,956,330) - -
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

257,177 6,993,890 257,177 2,075,136

Total accounts receivable - trade : related companies 6,182,265 1,190,985,895 6,182,265 1,186,067,141

Advances to subsidiaries

WorldPhone Shop Co., Ltd. - - 18,392,691 22,867,790

TAC Service Co., Ltd. - - 66,221,360 63,730,307

Others - - 12,983,170 2,890,028

Total advances to subsidiaries - - 97,597,221 89,488,125

Advances to related companies

United Communication Industry Plc. - 117,703,090 - 116,764,345

Less: Allowance for doubtful account - (49,000,000) - (49,000,000)

- 68,703,090 - 67,764,345

Others 1,419,106 14,488,825 - 13,907,283

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts - (8,047,552) - (8,047,552)

1,419,106 6,441,273 - 5,859,731

Total advances to related companies 1,419,106 75,144,363 - 73,624,076

Long-term loans to subsidiaries

TAC Investment Ltd. (Note 7.1) - - 1,272,469,609 1,354,171,401

TAC Service Co., Ltd. - - - 22,400,000

Total long-term loans to subsidiaries - - 1,272,469,609 1,376,571,401

Amounts due from a subsidiary

TAC Property Co., Ltd. (Note 7.2) - - 1,560,743,138 2,026,636,020

Total amounts due from a subsidiary - - 1,560,743,138 2,026,636,020

Amounts due from related companies

Amounts due from related companies 506,974,202 788,153,518 280,456,887 572,357,302

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (501,610,916) (756,757,485) (280,200,200) (541,503,580)

Total amount due from related companies 5,363,286 31,396,033 256,687 30,853,722

Accounts payable - trade: subsidiaries

TAC Property Co., Ltd. - - 5,212,729 -

Viphavadee Office Building Co., Ltd. - - 9,945,334 -

Total accounts payable - trade : subsidiaries - - 15,158,063 -

Accounts payable - trade: associated company

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. 31,512,485 - - -

Total accounts payable - trade : associated company 31,512,485 - - -

Accounts payable - trade: related companies

United Communication Industry Plc. 185,206,977 - 185,206,977 -

United Telecom Sales and Services Co., Ltd.

(Formerly named “Rural Telephone

  Service Co., Ltd.” 40,580,342 - 40,580,342 -

Others - 3,771,287 - -

Total accounts payable - trade : related companies 225,787,319 3,771,287 225,787,319 -

Advances from associated company

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. 20,063,387 - 20,063,387 -
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Total advances from associated company 20,063,387 - 20,063,387 -

Advances from related companies

Telenor Asia Pte. Ltd. 195,907,652 120,321,189 195,907,652 120,321,189

Others 41,600,598 34,843,835 38,219,841 34,843,835

Total advances from related companies 237,508,250 155,165,024 234,127,493 155,165,024

Long-term loan from a subsidiary

TAC Finance Company B.V. (Note 7.3) - - 14,336,076,435 13,519,446,286

Less : current portion - - (440,936,824) (428,803,792)

Long-term loan from a subsidiary - net - - 13,895,139,611 13,090,642,494

7.1 The loan to TAC Investment Limited (a subsidiary) , amounting to USD 75 million (2001 : USD 75 million), is
a loan for the purchase of the Company’s shares with interest charged at SIBOR. However, the Company has
stopped recognising interest income since November 2000. The amount has been shown net of cost of
treasury stock bought by the subsidiary of Baht 1,973 million.

7.2 The amount due from TAC Property Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary) comprises receivables arising from sales of
equipment to support cellular telephone services. There is no fixed term for repayment and no interest is
charged.

7.3 As at 31 December 2001, “Long-term loan from a subsidiary” represented a loan from TAC Finance Company
B.V. (a subsidiary) in the form of bills of exchange. During 2002, the Company issued bills of exchange
amounting to JPY 42,984 million to a foreign bank at a price of JPY 39,871 million. The proceeds were used
to early-redeem the original bills of exchange with a consequent loss and recorded this as “Deferred loss as
a result of early redemption of bills of exchange” in the Company’s financial statements, as presented in Note
15, with no effect to the net earnings of the consolidated financial statements. In December 2002, the foreign
bank subsequently sold the bills to TAC Finance Company B.V.

The net value of the bills as at 31 December 2002 was JPY 39,919 million. These bills are to be repaid
between 2003 and 2008. The Company and its subsidiary entered into various currency exchange and
interest rate swap agreements with foreign financial institutions to hedge the exchange rate risk on the above
loan. However, in March 2002, the Company and the subsidiary terminated these currency exchange and
interest rate swap agreements, without any resultant material loss to the consolidated financial statements,
and entered into new forward exchange contracts with a foreign financial institution to hedge such exchange
rate risk.

8. INVENTORIES

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Inventories 874,178,490 2,168,503,626 825,201,546 2,095,020,132

Less : Allowance for inventory

   obsolescence (597,581,493) (270,329,920) (571,568,535) (242,883,967)

Inventories - net 276,596,997 1,898,173,706 253,633,011 1,852,136,165
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9. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Interim tax - 193,504,350 - 193,504,350

Withholding tax deducted at source 47,568,450 73,237,509 40,122,713 67,441,990

Value added tax refundable from CAT - 19,374,499 - 19,374,499

Value added tax refundable 275,083,088 565,534 273,311,389 -

Prepaid expenses 61,699,586 79,201,669 58,919,084 73,718,768

Accounts receivable - others 6,051,813 145,759,854 4,226,403 141,238,507

Accounts receivable - Revenue

   Department 580,447,258 1,155,867,659 565,017,562 1,128,412,344

Advance payment 29,951,071 45,919,405 25,948,418 43,769,711

Accounts receivable - TOT 131,085,874 - 131,085,874 -

Receivable for cash discounts

   given from a supplier - 1,568,667,661 - 1,568,667,661

Others 164,011,518 77,670,881 158,047,466 71,769,631

Total other current assets 1,295,898,658 3,359,769,021 1,256,678,909 3,307,897,461

During 2002, the Revenue Department refunded interim tax and withholding tax deducted at source totaling Baht 257
million to the Company.

Accounts receivable/payable - TOT consists of :

(Unit : Thousand Baht)

2002 2001

Receivable from fee reduction for the concession periods ended :-

15 September 1997 103,944 103,944

15 September 1998 195,073 195,073

15 September 1999 211,258 211,258

15 September 2000 34,881 37,038

15 September 2001 - 827,390

15 September 2002 827,390 242,550

15 September 2003 242,550 -

1,615,096 1,617,253

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (545,156) (547,313)

1,069,940 1,069,940

Payable from access charges and others (938,854) (1,147,363)

Accounts receivable (payable) - net 131,086 (77,423)

The Baht 545 million (2001 : 547 million) receivable from the fee reductions for the Concession periods 1997 to
2000 has not yet been paid, and the Company is negotiating over this amount with TOT. Full provision has been set
up for these receivables.

The balance of accounts payable - TOT as at 31 December 2001 has been included in “Accounts payable - trade” in
the balance sheet (Note 17).
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10. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER EQUITY METHOD

COMPANY ONLY

Paid-up share Percentage of

capital shareholding Investments at cost Investments at equity

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Million Million Percent Percent Baht Baht Baht Baht

Baht Baht

Investments in subsidiaries accounted for under equity method

Subsidiaries directly held by the Company

   WorldPhone Shop Co., Ltd. 450 450 100 100 449,999,650 449,999,650 (130,156,815) (63,815,987)

   TAC Investment Ltd. - - 100 100 25 25 (675,045,846) (725,525,474)

   TAC Service Co., Ltd. 20 20 100 100 19,998,600 19,998,600 (16,051,602) (27,446,063)

   TAC Property Co., Ltd. 1 1 100 100 999,930 999,930 24,625,172 12,379,960

Subsidiaries held through TAC Property Co., Ltd.

   Eastern Beach Co., Ltd. 80 80 100 100 - - (17,167,922) (17,094,504)

   TAC Finance Company B.V. 0.5 0.5 100 100 - - 78,649,745 160,729,573

   Viphavadee Office Building Co., Ltd. 208.6 208.6 100 100 - - (80,574,107) (61,753,671)

Investments in subsidiaries accounted for under equity method - net 470,998,205 470,998,205 (815,721,375) (722,526,166)

Investment in associated company accounted for under equity method

   United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. 50,000,000 - 69,070,384 -

Investment in associated company accounted for under equity method 50,000,000 - 69,070,384 -

(Unit : Baht)

 COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001

Investment in subsidiaries accounted for under equity method

Net investments consist of :

Investments in subsidiaries 103,274,917 173,109,533

Provision for loss on investments in subsidiaries (918,996,292) (895,635,699)

Net investments (815,721,375) (722,526,166)

11. OTHER LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Available-for-sale securities

Marketable equity securities

The International Engineering Plc. 127,000,000 127,000,000 127,000,000 127,000,000

Less : Provision for impairment loss (119,634,000) (119,634,000) (119,634,000) (119,634,000)

Add : Unrealised gain from changes in valuation

  of investment in available-for-sale securities 8,128,000 - 8,128,000 -

15,494,000 7,366,000 15,494,000 7,366,000

Debt securities 755,263 828,515 755,263 828,515

Government bonds - 19,931,000 - 19,931,000

Other investments

Digital Phone Co., Ltd. 197,600,000 197,600,000 197,600,000 197,600,000

Other companies 71,983,666 84,933,381 56,933,381 56,933,381

Less : Provision for impairment loss (69,075,731) (83,333,381) (55,333,381) (55,333,381)

Other companies - net 2,907,935 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000

Total other long-term investments 216,757,198 227,325,515 215,449,263 227,325,515
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12. ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE AGREEMENT TO OPERATE CELLULAR TELEPHONE
SERVICES

Assets

“Account receivable from assignment of right” represents a consideration receivable from DPC and related accrued
interest, as described in Note 2.2.4 (a).

The balance of consideration receivable from DPC as at 31 December 2002 was USD 105.4 million (2001 : USD
96.6 million) based on the lower of Baht 38.57 per USD 1 or the average prevailing exchange rate quoted by the Bank
of Thailand at the date specified in the agreement. The balance is due for payment during 2002 to 2005, earns
interest at the rate of 7.75 - 9.50 percent per annum and is guaranteed by the rights and obligations under the
agreement to operate cellular telephone service of DPC.

The Company has not received the amount due to be paid by DPC on 30 September 2002 and related accrued
interest, together totaling USD 17 million. As at 31 December 2002, no provision has been established for this
receivable as management is of the opinion that there are no legal or commercial reasons to support this and they
expect DPC to make payment in full.

Liability

“Advance received - other” represents the Baht 5,400 million consideration received from DPC, net of the amount
recognised in revenue, under the agreement referred to in Note 2.2.4 (a).
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14. DEFERRED RIGHT TO USE OF EQUIPMENT

Deferred right to use of equipment represents the cost of tools and equipment for providing cellular telephone
services under the agreements with CAT outlined in Note 2.2.1. Ownership of the tools and equipment was
transferred to CAT at the date of commencing the services or when the equipment was put into use.

The cost of such tools and equipment is deferred and amortised over the Concession period.
Deferred right to use of equipment consists of the following :-

(Unit : Baht))

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Deferred right to use of equipment 79,343,453,661 68,008,964,171 78,518,013,662 67,183,524,171

Less : Accumulated amortisation (16,233,705,877) (12,656,793,056) (16,005,689,527) (12,466,779,433)

Net deferred right to use of equipment 63,109,747,784 55,352,171,115 62,512,324,135 54,716,744,738

Amortisation included in the earnings statements 3,576,912,818 2,713,213,380 3,538,910,094 2,675,210,656

15. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Deferred expenses - net 1,043,943,343 608,112,434 1,026,225,261 608,112,434

Deferred expenses on transmission

   facilities-net 612,836,015 325,165,530 612,836,015 325,165,530

Deferred loss as a result of early redemption

   of bills of exchange - net (note 7.3) - - 816,593,401 -

Deferred underwriting fees for bonds

   and convertible bonds - net 128,448,863 143,771,954 128,448,863 143,771,954

Deferred arrangement fees for loans - net 557,005,688 265,007,381 557,005,688 265,007,381

Deposits 185,488,277 410,363,403 179,504,819 403,862,830

Others 5,357,421 34,503,512 5,357,421 16,195,733

2,533,079,607 1,786,924,214 3,325,971,468 1,762,115,862

Amortisation included in the earnings

  statements 668,508,880 542,575,691 681,140,109 440,047,971

16. SHORT-TERM LOANS FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Bills of exchange 501,698,630 1,650,392,482 501,698,630 1,650,392,482

Promissory Note 500,000,000 - 500,000,000 -

Trust receipts - 246,869,715 - 246,869,715

Total short-term loans from

   financial institutions 1,001,698,630 1,897,262,197 1,001,698,630 1,897,262,197

As at 31 December 2002, bills of exchange represent transferable 2-month bills of exchange issued by the Company
to financial institutions due in 2003.
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17. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE - TRADE
(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Accounts payable for the purchase

   of cell site equipment 4,828,380,197 5,866,142,581 4,828,380,197 5,866,142,581

Accounts payable for the purchase

   of handsets and related equipment 67,109,252 964,104,962 67,109,252 964,104,962

Accounts payable - CAT 991,307,029 873,080,196 991,307,029 873,080,196

Accounts payable - TOT (Note 9) - 77,422,868 - 77,422,868

Others 202,429,419 136,295,312 169,059,867 88,454,387

Total accounts payable - trade 6,089,225,897 7,917,045,919 6,055,856,345 7,869,204,994

18. LONG-TERM LOANS
(Unit : Baht)

COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001

Bank loans (18.1) - 6,500,000,000

Loan from Finnish Export Credit Plc. (18.2) 3,492,294,732 -

Bank loans guaranteed by Export Credits Guarantee Department

   of the Government of the United Kingdom (18.3) 1,918,590,877 -

Total 5,410,885,609 6,500,000,000

Less : Current portion (876,502,493) -

Long-term loans - net of current portion 4,534,383,116 6,500,000,000

18.1 As at 31 December 2001, Baht 6,500 million of the long-term bank loans represents credit drawn down from
the Baht 16,000 million credit facility provided under a credit facility agreement dated 24 October 2001 which
the Company made with a group of financial institutions. Interest is charged at the higher of MLR minus 0.5
percent and the average fixed deposit interest rate plus 2.5 percent per annum, and loan repayment is to be
made in 14 quarterly installments of amounts stipulated in the agreement from 2003 to 2006.

During 2002, the Company prepaid Baht 6,500 million outstanding under this loan from the proceeds of other.
In addition, the Company cancelled all of the facility not yet drawn down, amounting to Baht 9,500 million.

18.2 On 24 December 2001 the Company entered into a Facility Agreement with Finnish Export Credit Plc. The
principal terms of this facility are :

Facility : USD 120 million (Tranche A : USD 63.8 million and
Tranche B : USD 56.2 million)

Interest rate : LIBOR plus 0.72 percent per annum
Interest period : every six months
Principal repayment schedule : 14 semi-annual installments in the amounts and in

the periods stipulated in the agreement from 2002 to 2009
Guarantee fee : 5.66 percent of each of drawn down amount

Tranche A facility had been fully drawn by the end of the first quarter of 2002.

As at 31 December 2002, USD 54.7 million of the Tranche A facility was outstanding (2001: Nil). The
Company entered into currency swap agreements with foreign financial institutions to swap this loan to a Baht
2,403 million loan, of which Baht 1,201.5 million is subject to a floating Baht interest rate as stipulated in the
agreement and the other Baht 1,201.5 million is subject to a fixed Baht interest rates as stipulated in the
agreement. Repayment of this loan will be due from 2002 to 2008. In addition, the interest expense on part
of this loan is covered by interest rate swap agreements.
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As at 31 December 2002, USD 24.8 million of the Tranche B facility had been drawn down (2001 : Nil). The
Company entered into currency swap agreements with foreign financial institutions to swap this USD 24.8
million loan to a Baht 1,089 million loan, with a floating Baht interest rate as stipulated in the agreement. For
the USD 31.4 million of the credit facility not drawn down, the Company entered into currency swap
agreements with foreign financial institutions, effective 28 February 2003, to swap the amount to a Baht
1,381 million loan with a floating Baht interest rate as stipulated in the agreement. Repayment of this loan will
be due between 2003 and 2009.

18.3 On 28 March 2002, the Company entered into a Facility Agreement with banks, guaranteed by the Export
Credits Guarantee Department of the Government of the United Kingdom. The principal terms of this facility
are :

Facility : JPY 6,704 million
Interest rate : LIBOR plus 0.375 percent per annum
Interest period : every six months
Principal repayment schedule : 14 equal semi-annual installments starting on 30 June 2002
Guarantee fee : JPY 354 million, paid within 60 days of the signature of this

agreement

This facility had been fully drawn by the end of the second quarter of 2002.

As at 31 December 2002, JPY 5,746 million of this facility was outstanding (2001 : Nil). The Company entered
into currency swap agreements with foreign financial institutions to swap this loan to a Baht 1,919 million
loan, with a fixed Baht interest rates as stipulated in the agreements. Repayment of this loan will be due from
2002 to 2008.

18.4 On 27 June 2002, the Company entered into a Facility Agreement with Nordic Investment Bank. The principal
terms of this facility are :

Facility : USD 30 million
Interest rate : LIBOR plus 1.15 percent per annum
Interest period : every six months
Principal repayment schedule : 8 equal semi-annual installments in the amounts and in the

periods stipulated in the agreement during 2006 to 2010.

As at 31 December 2002, none of this credit facility has been drawn down. The Company entered into
currency swap agreements with foreign financial institutions, effective 30 June 2003, to swap this loan to a
Baht 1,270 million loan, with a floating Baht interest rates as stipulated in the agreement.

18.5 On 29 October 2002 the Company entered into a Baht 4,000 million a Facility Agreement with a group of
financial institutions. The principal terms of this facility are :-

Facility : Baht 4,000 million
Interest rate : THBFIX plus 1.65 percent per annum
Interest period : every six months
Principal repayment schedule : 9 semi-annual installments in the amounts as

stipulated in the agreement as from 2004 to 2008

As at 31 December 2002, none of this credit facility has been drawn down.

The above credit agreements contain covenants relating to various matters such as the maintenance of financial
ratios, restrictions on incurring indebtedness and creating or permitting the subsistence of security interest on
property and assets, a prohibition on making loans or granting guarantees except under certain conditions, and
restrictions on the payment of dividends.
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19. BONDS

(Unit : Thousand Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

US Dollar bonds 13,306,100,000 13,306,100,000 - -

Thai Baht debentures 25,142,840,000 21,000,000,000 25,142,840,000 21,000,000,000

38,448,940,000 34,306,100,000 25,142,840,000 21,000,000,000

Less Current portion of bonds

: Thai Baht debentures (6,000,120,000) (857,160,000) (6,000,120,000) (857,160,000)

Bonds - net of current portion 32,448,820,000 33,448,940,000 19,142,720,000 20,142,840,000

19.1 US dollar bonds

Bonds as presented in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2002 and 2001 represent
the USD 300 million in bonds belonging to a subsidiary (TAC Finance Company B.V.) for which the Company
has provided an unconditional and irrevocable guarantee of the subsidiary’s due and punctual payment to the
holders. These bonds carry interest at 8.375 percent per annum and mature in 2006.

As at 31 December 2002 and 2001, all USD 300 million of the bonds are covered by cross currency
agreements swapping them to Baht currency debt subject to annual interest at rates stipulated in the
agreements. The agreements mature in November 2006. In addition, part of the interest payable on the
bonds has been hedged with interest rate swap agreements.

19.2 Thai Baht debentures

19.2.1 On 12 October 2000, the Company issued Baht 6,000 million (6,000,000 units of Baht 1,000
each) of registered, unsubordinated, unsecured amortising debentures with a trustee, bearing
interest at 6.5 percent per annum and with a final maturity in 5 years. They are to be redeemed in
14 equal quarterly installments from 12 July 2002 until their maturity date of 12 October 2005.

As at 31 December 2002, Baht 5,143 Million of this debenture was outstanding (2001 : Baht
6,000 million)

19.2.2 On 4 April 2001, the Company issued Baht 15,000 million (15,000,000 units of Baht 1,000 each)
of registered, unsubordinated, unsecured amortising debentures with a trustee, bearing interest at
5.6 percent per annum and with a final maturity in 5 years. They are to be redeemed in 14 equal
quarterly installments from 4 January 2003 until their maturity date of 4 April 2006.

As at 31 December 2002, Baht 15,000 million of this debenture was outstanding (2001 : Baht
15,000 million).

19.2.3 On 30 October 2002, the Company issued Baht 5,000 million (5,000,000 units of debentures of
Baht 1,000 each) registered, unsubordinated, unsecured debentures with a trustee, comprising:

- Debentures of Baht 4,000 million bearing interest at 5.8 percent per annum and with a final
maturity in 7 years, which are due for repayment in full in October 2009.

- Debentures of Baht 1,000 bearing interest at 8.3 percent minus the “6-month THBFIX” per
annum for the first to third years, interest at the fixed 5.8 percent per annum for the fourth to
seventh years and with a final maturity in 7 years, which are due for repayment in full in October
2009. The interest expenses for the first to third years of this debenture has been covered by
interest swap agreements that result in the Company paying a fixed interest rate.

As at 31 December 2002, Baht 5,000 million of this debentures was outstanding (2001 : Nil).
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The Thai Baht debentures contain covenants relating to various matters such as the maintenance of financial
ratios, restrictions on creating or permitting the creation of security interest on property and assets, a
prohibition on making loans or granting guarantees except under certain conditions, and restrictions on the
payment of dividends.

On 30 April 2002, the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders approved the issuance and offer for sale
of debentures not exceeding Baht 20,000 million or in equivalent amount in other currencies. Up to the
report date, Baht 5,000 million of debentures, as described in note 19.2.3, have been issued.

20. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2002 and 2001, the outstanding balance of convertible bonds comprise of USD 1.5 million for
which the bondholders did not exercise their put option on 31 May 2001. The bonds, bearing interest at 2 percent per
annum, will be due for repayment on 31 May 2006 and has been presented as “non-current liabilities” in the balance
sheets.

21. ADVANCES RECEIVED FOR REGISTRATION OF NUMBER

Advances received for the registration of numbers were amounts collected from vendors for each telephone number
to be sold to customers. The Company recognised the amount partly as revenue and partly as customers’ deposits
when service of the telephone number was brought into service.

22. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS

Customers’ deposits are amounts collected from subscribers which the Company has to refund to subscribers when
subscription contracts are terminated as at the Company’s discretion. At the end of the concessioned period, the
Company would have to transfer any outstanding balance to CAT.

23. SHARES OF THE COMPANY HELD BY A SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2002 and 2001, 170,100 outstanding shares of the Company were held by a subsidiary. They
are presented as a deduction in shareholders’ equity and are stated at cost.

24. STATUTORY RESERVE

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is required to set aside a
statutory reserve of at least 5 percent of its net earnings after deducting accumulated deficits brought forward (if
any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered share capital. During 2002, the Company set aside Baht
109 million to the statutory reserve from its net earnings for the year.

25. RETURN OF NUMBERING FEE

As from the first quarter of 2001, the Company changed its policy and has ceased collecting numbering fee from its
vendor when the mobile telephone numbers are allocated. In addition, the Company has returned the amounts of
such fees, collected in the past for mobile telephone numbers for which service to customers has not yet
commenced. The related credit notes issued to UCOM and other venders amounting to Baht 323 million and Baht
289 million, respectively, were recorded as a deduction against “Other operating income” in the earnings statement
for the year ended 31 December 2001.
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26. FINANCIAL COSTS

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Interest expenses 2,834,211,346 2,801,471,878 2,861,852,562 2,819,757,107

Provision for the premium payable

   on redemption of convertible bonds - 320,959,602 - 320,959,602

Amortisation of fees on early

   redemption on bills of exchange 36,561,337 - 49,685,717 -

Total financial costs 2,870,772,683 3,122,431,480 2,911,538,279 3,140,716,709

27. CORPORATE INCOME TAX

Corporate income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2002 and 2001 were arrived at as follows :-

(Unit : Baht)

Consolidated The Company Only

2002 2001 2002 2001

Income tax payable on taxable profit for the year 929,357,719 860,339,005 919,214,921 851,762,726

Add (less) : Net decrease (increase) in deferred

 tax on temporary differences 46,942,885 273,249,622 46,942,885 273,249,622

Income tax expenses - net 976,300,604 1,133,588,627 966,157,806 1,125,012,348

28. STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and deposits at financial
institutions with an original maturity of 3 months or less and without commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents as reflected in the statements of cash flows consist of the following :-

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Cash and deposits at financial institutions 1,478,176,522 1,826,229,155 1,394,441,076 1,702,968,063

Fixed deposits at financial institutions 18,549,493 1,266,884,082 16,497,608 1,266,761,794

Cash and cash equivalents 1,496,726,015 3,093,113,237 1,410,938,684 2,969,729,857

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

29.1 Financial risk management policies
The Company and subsidiaries are exposed to risks from changes in market interest rates and in currency
exchange rates, and from nonperformance of contractual obligations by counterparties. The Company and
subsidiaries use derivative instruments, as and when they are considered appropriate, to manage such risks.
Such instruments are not held or issued for speculative or trading purposes.

29.2 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that future movement in market interest rates will effect the results of the
Company and subsidiaries’ operations and their cash flows. The Company’s and subsidiaries’ exposure to
interest rate risk relate primarily to their deposits at financial institutions, short-term loans, long-term loans,
bonds and convertible bonds. Part of these financial assets and liabilities carried fixed interest rates and the
Company and subsidiaries do not use derivative financial instruments to hedge such risk, while certain amounts
were covered by derivative financial instruments as described in Note 18 and 19.
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As at 31 December 2002 the Company and subsidiaries are exposed to interest rate risks in relation to the
following financial assets and liabilities :-

(Unit : Million Baht)

                                                                                                                              CONSOLIDATED

Floating Fixed

                                  Items Note interest rate interest rate Total

Financial assets

Deposits at financial institutions 28 1,478 - 1,478

Fixed deposits at financial institutions 28 17 2 19

Financial liabilities

Short-term loans from financial institutions 16 - 1,002 1,002

Long-term loans 18 2,291 3,120 5,411

Bonds 19 11,082 27,367 38,449

Convertible bonds 20 - 38 38

The Company and subsidiaries are exposed to interest rate risk on financial assets and liabilities, which
carrying fixed interest rate which can be classified by maturity as follow :-

(Unit : Million Baht)

                                                                                                                              CONSOLIDATED

                     Within Over

                                   Items Note 12 months 12 months Total Interest rate

Financial assets

  Fixed deposit at financial institution 2 - 2 0.50%

Financial liabilities

  Short term loans from financial institutions 16 1,002 - 1,002 2.00%

Long - term loans

  : Loan from Finish Export Credit Plc. 18.2 200 1,001 1,201 3.50% - 7.75%

  : Bank loans guaranteed by Export Credits

    Guarantee Department of the

    Government of the United Kingdom 18.3 320 1,599 1,919 3.00% - 8.00%

Bonds

  : US Dollar bonds 19.1 - 2,224 2,224 5.35% - 8.90%

  : Thai Baht debentures 19.2 6,000 19,143 25,143 5.60%, 5.75%,

5.80% and 6.50%

Convertible bonds 20 - 38 38 2.00%

29.3 Foreign currency risk

The Company and subsidiaries’ exposure to foreign currency risk relate primarily to trade accounts payable,
long-term loans and bonds which are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company and subsidiaries
primarily utilise forward exchange contracts and currency swap agreements to hedge the exchange rate risk
arising from these instruments (Note 18 and 19.1).

As at 31 December 2002 the Company and subsidiaries had the following foreign currency assets and liabili-
ties (after the execution of forward currency and swap currency transactions for certain parts of their liabili-
ties) which were not hedged against foreign exchange rate risk :
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Foreign

Amount currency Due for repayment

Assets (Million) (Year)

Deposits at financial institutions 2.0 USD -

Liabilities

Accounts payable - trade * 68.0 USD 2003

0.4 EUR 2003

Net liabilities 66.0 USD

0.4 EUR

(*) net of the amounts of USD 32.6 million and EUR 1.6 million covered by forward contracts and swap contracts.

The exchange rates for translation of foreign currency liabilities into Baht as of 31 December 2002 were Baht
43.3039 per USD 1 and Baht 45.1035 per EUR 1.

29.4 Credit risk

The Company and subsidiaries are exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade accounts receivable.
However, due to the large number of entities comprising the Company and subsidiaries’ customer base, the
Company and subsidiaries do not anticipate material losses from debt collection and believe that the
maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of receivables less allowance for doubtful
debts as stated in the balance sheets.

With respect to off-balance sheet derivative financial instruments, it is the Company’s policy to enter into
financial instruments with creditworthy counterparties. Therefore, the Company does not expect any material
losses to arise from the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations under the financial instruments.

29.5 Fair value

Given that all financial assets are short-term, parts of financial liabilities are short-term and that long-term
financial liabilities, long-term loans and bonds carry interest at rates close to current market rates,
management believes that their fair value does not materially differ from their carrying value.

30. COMMITMENTS

30.1 Lease commitments

As at 31 December 2002 the Company and subsidiaries have the following operating lease commitments for
the lease of office buildings :-

(Unit : Million Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 52 46

2004 27 25

2005 onwards 19 19

The Company and subsidiaries also have operating lease obligations for base stations totalling Baht 18
million per month.

30.2 Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2002 the Company has capital commitments of Baht 6,040 million (2001 : Baht 5,812
million) in respect of purchase of tools and equipment for providing the cellular telephone services and the
purchase of handsets.
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30.3 Long-term service agreement

On 1 July 1998, one of the subsidiaries entered into an Assignment Agreement with AM/PM (Thailand) Ltd. to
operate the “am/pm” shops in Thailand. With the consent of am/pm International Inc., AM/PM (Thailand) Ltd.
assigned and transferred the rights and obligations under the “am/pm Mini Market - Licensing Agreement”
dated 29 November 1990 to the subsidiary to operate the am/pm shops. The “am/pm Mini Market -
Licensing Agreement” covers a period of 15 years from the year 1990. Under the agreement, the subsidiary
is obliged to comply with stipulated conditions and to pay to the licenser a franchise fee calculated at a
percentage of sales as stipulated in the agreement.

However, on 1 January 2003 the subsidiary entered into an agreement to terminate the assignment
agreement to operate am/pm shops in Thailand with am/pm International Inc. Conditions of this agreement
are that the assignment agreement to operate am/pm will terminate on 1 January 2003 and that subsidiary
will stop to use am/pm trademark within 30 June 2003.

30.4 Deposits at financial institutions

As at 31 December 2002 and 2001, deposits at financial institutions of a subsidiary of Baht 37 million is
pledged with the bank to secure facilities granted by the bank.

30.5 Bank guarantees

As at 31 December 2002, there were outstanding bank guarantees of Baht 1,803 million (2001 : Baht 1,798
million) issued by banks on behalf of the Company in respect of certain performance bonds required in the
normal course of business of the Company. Bank guarantees are primarily issued to CAT to cover customer
deposits.

As at 31 December 2002, there were outstanding bank guarantees of Baht 24.9 million (2001 : Baht 35.7
million) issued by banks on behalf of a subsidiary in respect of certain performance bonds required in the
normal course of business of the subsidiary. These guarantees are secured by bank deposits of the
subsidiary.

30.6 Agreements to install cell site equipment

On 18 May 2001, 17 June 2002 and 8 August 2002, the Company entered into agreements to install cell site
equipment with Rural Telephone Services Co., Ltd., (the present named “United Telecom Sales and Services
Co., Ltd.”) a related company. This related company will supply and install equipment for cell site base
stations and will complete the services during the period specified in the agreements. The Company is
committed to pay remuneration totaling of Baht 854 million. The payment will be made when the installation
work is completed based on the conditions specified in the agreements.

As at 31 December 2002, the Company has a remaining commitment under this agreement of approximately
Baht 266 million.

30.7 Agreement to install and maintain transmission networks

On 1 July 2001, the Company entered into an agreement to install and maintain transmission networks with
United Communication Industry Plc., a related company. This related company will provide transmission
engineering network design and configuration, installation and maintenance services for transmission
networks for a period of 5 years while the Company is committed to pay service fees at the rate specified in
the agreement.
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31. LITIGATION AND COMMERCIAL DISPUTES

31.1 Litigation

The Company has been sued by a group of companies in the USA for damages of USD 23 million for an alleged
breach of a guarantee agreement given by the Company in the context of a mobile phone development project.
The lawsuit is now in litigation. However, the Company’s management believe that the outcome of the lawsuit
will not have a material unfavourable impact on the Company as, according to the Company legal counsel, the
Company is not legally bound by this agreement. In addition, legal counsel believes that even, if the US court
rules against the Company its judgement or any order of the court will not be enforceable in Thailand unless
determined to be so by a Thai Court.

31.2 Dispute between the Company and CAT regarding fees on amounts received from the cellular mobile
telecommunications network roaming agreement with DPC.

In 2002, CAT requested the Company pay fees on amounts received from the provision of roaming services to
DPC on its telecommunications network. Management contends that the Company is not liable to pay fees to
CAT on these amount as the payments are to compensate the Company for the equipment costs incurred to
expand its network accommodate the increase in network traffic as a result of DPC being granted such
roaming. In addition, DPC pays fees to CAT on the revenue that it generates from its roaming on the Company’
s network.

32. CONCESSION CONVERSION

The Company operates its business under a concession agreement with the Communications Authority of Thailand,
as described in Note 2.2.1. The Government of Thailand has undertaken to fully liberalize the countr y’s
telecommunication sector by 2006 under obligations made to the World Trade Organization and the
Telecommunications Services Act 2001 (“the Act”) provides the framework for this process. Section 80 of the Act
allows for existing operators, at their option, to convert concessions into licenses to be issued by a National
Telecommunications Commission (“NTC”). The NTC will be an independent entity responsible for regulating the
telecommunication businesses. However, to date the NTC has not been established and therefore details of
licensing arrangement are not yet available. Moreover, the process of converting concessions into licenses involves
a number of complex commercial issues. A number of frameworks to assist in the process have been proposed and
the Company has expressed its interest in participating in this process, which is ongoing but which has no set time
frame for its completion. As a result it is not possible to determine as at the date of these financial statements the
outcome of the concession conversion process and the possible impact it may have on the Company’s operations or
financial position.

33. FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY SEGMENT

The principal operations of the Company and subsidiaries involve a single industry segment in operating wireless
telecommunications services and distributing handsets and are carried out exclusively in Thailand. As a result, all
revenues, operating profits and assets reflected in these financial statements pertain to this industry segment and
geographic area.

34. DISCONTINUANCE OF BUSINESS AND NEW INVESTMENT

In the second quarter of 2002, the Company discontinued the business of distribution of handsets and accessories
and transfered it to a new company, United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. (“UD”), in which the Company holds a 25
percent equity interest.

Under the agreement with UD, dated 14 June 2002, the Company and UD are obliged to comply with the conditions
stipulated in the agreement which including the following conditions :



2002 Annual Report DTAC 73

- UD will buy the Company’s inventory of approximately Baht 2,100 million, on the transfer date at the lower of
net book value or market price.

- UD will take over the vendor agreements and responsibilities from the transfer date.

- For special campaigns, the Company may chose to negotiate extraordinary prices and volumes directly with
the vendors and advice UD to place the order whereby the Company will cover certain costs for UD.

- Certain subsidizing of handsets from any price lowering, approved by the Company, will be invoiced by UD.

Total revenues from sales of handsets and accessories for the year ended 31 December 2001 amounted to Baht
7,052 million, on which the gross profit margin was approximately Baht 300 million.

35. EMPLOYEES AND RELATED COSTS

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2002 2001 2002 2001

Number of employees at end of year 3,018 3,226 2,612 2,617

Employee costs for the year (Thousand Baht) 1,226,317 1,330,133 1,170,870 1,250,542

36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Forward exchange contracts

Subsequent to 31 December 2002 and up to the report date (7 February 2003) the Company has entered into a
number of forward exchange contracts with banks to purchase USD 38.9 million and EUR 1.0 million, to cover the
purchase of cellular telephone service equipment which will be received in the year 2003.

37. PRESENTATION

The presentation of these financial statements has been made in compliance with the stipulations of the Notification
of the Commercial Registration Department dated 14 September 2001, as empowered under the Accounting Act B.E.
2543.

Certain amounts in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2001 have been reclassified to con-
form to the current year classifications, with no effect on previously reported net earnings or shareholders’ equity.

38. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements have been approved by the Company’s directors.






